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The Heritage Council’s activities in 2017 were 
diverse and numerous, but focused firmly on 
the fulfillment of our statuatory remit to promote 
interest, education, knowledge, pride and care 
of our national heritage. The pages that follow 
detail the highlights of 2017 ranging from the 
memorable royal visit in May to a record-breaking 

National Heritage Week in August, and the launch 
for the European Year of Cultural Heritage 2018 in 

December. 

The publication of the 2017 Annual Report coincides 
with the launch of the Heritage Council’s new five-year 

Strategic Plan, ‘Heritage at the Heart’. The result of a lengthy 
consultation process, ‘Heritage at the Heart’ is a relevant and 

forward-looking document with three strategic objectives at its core. 
During the lifetime of the plan, the Heritage Council will focus on 1. 

Advancing National Heritage Priorities; 2. Nurturing Belonging through 
a sense of identity and place; 3. Ensuring a Vibrant Heritage Sector. 

The strategic plan is ambitious and far-reaching, but the Heritage Council has a solid foundation 
on which to build. The 2017 Annual Report is structured to reflect the ways in which the Heritage Council 

is currently addressing its newly-formulated strategic objectives. The imagery has been chosen to demonstrate the 
variety of initiatives and programmes coordinated by the Heritage Council, and to acknowledge the people and 
organisations that worked in partnership with us in the interest of heritage in 2017.  

INTRODUCTION



This is my first opportunity to contribute to Council’s Annual Report as Chairman 
and it really is with some pride that I am able, in that capacity, to comment on 
the work of the organisation in 2017. 

In 2017 Council embarked on an extensive public consultation exercise to help 
inform and validate its new strategic plan. This Plan too will be published in 2018 
and will bring a focus on which we can build the next stage of the organisation’s 
development. There is no denying that the capacity of the organisation to fully 
deliver on its ambitions is not currently in place. Working with all our partners 
as the country collectively emerges from a most challenging decade, and in 
particular with the Minister for Culture Heritage and the Gaeltacht Josepha 
Madigan TD, we will continue to seek the enhanced resources required to 
reach this organisation’s full potential.

Governance and strategy have been a major focus for Council in 2017. And 
yet at the same time, our service to the heritage sector has continued apace. 
In reading our Annual Report people will identify I am sure their own highlights 
but I have to say that celebrations for the 10th anniversary of the Museum 
Standards Programme for Ireland (MSPI) will remain long in the memory, as will 
the ongoing success and involvement of people in Heritage Week. The week 
again proved to be singularly successful and shows what can be achieved 
when ongoing support and encouragement is provided to communities the 
length and breadth of the country.

It remains for me to thank all of the Council members for their work to date, 
Council’s staff and all those who have contributed to our work during the year. 
As a result of your efforts more and more people are realising that our national 
heritage can truly be recognised as being at the heart of all that is good about 
life on this island of ours.

MICHAEL PARSONS 
CHAIRMAN 
An Chomhairle Oidhreachta

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
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As the Heritage Council’s Chief Executive, I have experi-
enced some challenging years. 2017 for a variety of rea-
sons has proved to be one of the most challenging to date. 
Concerns in relation to the impact of a lack of capacity on 
the organisation’s operations have regularly been reported. 
2017 added a further layer of demand on the staff team as 
it required us to operate for 8 months of the year without our 
Head of Business Services and our Head of Education and 
Communication, key posts which in effect represent 14% of 
our fulltime work force.

My first task in this report is to pay tribute to all members 
of Council’s staff who helped bridge the gap during those 
months when the organisation was working to fill those va-
cancies. The remaining members of Council’s management 
team, our financial controller, professional and support staff 
all worked with tireless dedication and were a credit to the 
organisation. Our earnest hope was to continue to maintain 
the quality of the service we provide to the heritage sector 
as a whole. 

Throughout 2017 the heritage light continued to shine 
brightly in communities the length and breadth of the coun-
try. This annual report is full of the good news and positive 
stories that continue to sustain energy levels in the Heri-
tage Council and bring a smile to all our faces. 
The innovation, imagination and flexibility 
displayed in each and every initiative and 
project that is reported never ceases to 
astound and should never be taken for 
granted. The people involved and the 
communities they represent deserve 
our thanks and indeed deep grati-
tude. 

They also deserve increased levels 
of support and resource, particularly 
in revenue funding that allows sharing of 
sations
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And yet, throughout all of this, the heritage light 
continued to shine brightly in communities the 
length and breadth of the country. This annual 
report if full of the good news and positive stories 
that continue to sustain energy levels in the Her-
itage Council and bring a smile to all our faces. 
The innovation, imagination and flexibility that is 
displayed in each and every initiative and proj-
ect that is reported never ceases to astound and 
should never be taken for granted. The people 
involved and the communities they represent de-
serve our thanks and indeed deep gratitude. 

They also deserve increased levels of support 
and resource, particularly in revenue funding 
that allows sharing of information, participation, 
education and enjoyment. These individuals, 
groups and organisations have all shown what is 
possible and what can be achieved through in-
vestment in such work. Contemporary approach-
es to heritage conservation management and 
development requires Investment in people and 
place as will be highlighted through the Europe-
an Year of Cultural Heritage in 2018. We can all 
be judged on the legacy that emerges and the 
new approach that needs to be adopted from the 
work during that year. 

This annual report is also the last one in which 
I will have the opportunity to contribute. I con-
firmed with the Heritage Council at the beginning 
of 2017 that I will be stepping down as its Chief 
Executive at the end of 2018. It has been a very 
real honour and a humbling experience to work 
with, and for so many wonderful people. They 

have been an inspiration to me and provided 
opportunities which I did not know even exist-
ed. Their commitment, their knowledge and their 
willingness to share that knowledge has been 
their greatest strength and provided me with the 
greatest encouragement. Everyone involved has 
ensured that deep foundations have been laid on 
which the Heritage Council and all its partners 
now have the opportunity to build. I am sure they 
will grasp it.

My enduring thanks to you all.

MICHAEL STARRETT
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
An Chomhairle Oidhreachta

information, participation, education and enjoy-
ment. These individuals, groups and organisa-
tions have all shown what is possible and what 
can be achieved through investment in such 
work. Contemporary approaches to heritage 
conservation management and development re-
quires investment in people and place as will be 
highlighted through the European Year of Cultur-
al Heritage in 2018. 

This annual report is also the last one in which 
I will have the opportunity to contribute. I con-
firmed with the Heritage Council at the beginning 
of 2017 that I will be stepping down as its Chief 
Executive at the end of 2018. It has been a very 
real honour and a humbling experience to work 
with, and for so many wonderful people in ev-
ery corner of Ireland. They have been an inspi-
ration to me and provided opportunities which 
I did not know even existed. Their commitment, 

their knowledge and their willingness to share 
that knowledge has been their greatest strength 
and provided me with the greatest encourage-
ment. Everyone involved has ensured that deep 
foundations have been laid on which the Heri-
tage Council and all its partners now have the 
opportunity to build. I am sure they will grasp that 
opportunity.

My enduring thanks to you all.

MICHAEL STARRETT
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
An Chomhairle Oidhreachta
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HERITAGE COUNCIL 
BOARD 2017

WHO ARE WE? 
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The Heritage Council is a public body working in the public interest. Established under the Heritage Act, 
1995, its statutory functions are to propose policies for the identification, protection, preservation and 
enhancement of our national heritage. The Heritage Act provides a comprehensive definition of heritage 
which includes monuments, archaeological objects, heritage objects such as art and industrial works, 
documents and genealogical records, architectural heritage, flora, fauna, wildlife habitats, landscapes, 
seascapes, wrecks, geology, heritage gardens, parks and inland waterways.

The Heritage Council’s vision is that by 2022, heritage will be at the heart of Irish society and deci-
sion-making and that Ireland will be internationally recognised as a centre of excellence in heritage man-
agement, conservation and community engagement. We will continue to work in partnership with local 
communities, local authorities, voluntary groups, government departments, various agencies and national 
cultural institutions in order to deliver this vision. Together we will sow the seeds of innovation and support 
projects that will have a positive and enduring social and economic impact.

OUR BOARD
Heritage Council Board members are appointed by the Minister for Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht. 
Coming from diverse backgrounds and with wide ranging skills, each member provides an invaluable 
conduit of ideas and energy, enabling the organisation to lead, respond and deliver effectively. All ex-
penses to Board members are paid in accordance with the guidelines and rules set down by the Depart-
ment of Public Expenditure and Reform. Details of expenses are published in our annual reports.

Back row: left to right, Brian Walsh; Muiris Ó Súilleabháin; Jane Maxwell; Kieran Coughlan; 
Miriam Fitzpatrick; Michael Starrett, Chief Executive; Ivor McElveen
Front row: left to right, Mary Gallagher; Michael Parsons, Chairman; Sinead Mc Cartan
Not pictured: Marie Bourke & Fionnuala May



The following members were appointed to the Board in July 2016:

MICHAEL PARSONS

MARY GALLAGHER

JANE MAXWELL

IVOR MCELVEEN

Chairman 

KIERAN COUGHLAN 

MIRIAM FITZPATRICK 

FIONNUALA MAY

SINEAD MCCARTAN

MUIRIS Ó SÚILLEABHÁIN

BRIAN WALSH

MARIE BOURKE
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Chairperson Laois Heritage Society | Member of the Heritage Council 
since January 2012 

Former Keeper/ Head of Education/ Member of the Management Team/ 
Secretary of the Board, National Gallery of Ireland (1998-2015) | Chair 
(2006-09), Board Member (1999-2009), Irish Museums Association

Chief Executive of the Houses of the Oireachtas Commission, Secretary 
General to the Oireachtas Service and Clerk of the Dáil (1990-2013) | 
Appointed to Ethics in Public Office Commission 1995

Trained as an architect and urban designer | Lecturer in Architecture with 
specialty in Urban Design,  University College Dublin & Waterford Institute 
of Technology

Secretary to the Authority of the National Sports Campus Development 
Authority (NSCDA) and Company Secretary, NSCDA (Operations) Ltd. 
(April 2007 - October 2015) | Head of Corporate Governance/ Secretary 
to the Board, Enterprise Ireland (1998-2007)

Assistant Librarian, Manuscripts & Archives Research Library, Trinity College 
Library | Governors and Guardians of Marsh’s Library (Provost’s proxy)

Acting County Architect, Fingal County Council (2011 - date) | Served as 
a member of the Heritage Council’s Standing Committee on Architecture 
(2000-2010) 

Interim Director of Collections and Interpretation for National Museums 
Northern Ireland | Curator of Prehistoric Archaeology at the Ulster 
Museum, Belfast (1990-2008)

Founder of historic building and conservation consultancy practice in 
Wexford | Former Director of Europe of the Industrial Development 
Authority (IDA) | Previously Chairman of a large restituted estate in the 
Czech Republic and Advisor to the Czech Government

Lecturer UCD School of Archaeology (1994 - date) | Member, Scientific 
Committee, Carnac Alignment World Heritage Bid (2014 - date) | Dean 
of Arts UCD (2014 -2015) | Head of School of Archaeology UCD (2004 
- 2008)

Curator, County Museum, Dundalk (February 2005 - date) |  Member of 
review committee on the National Monuments Act (2009/2010)



MICHAEL STARRETT

Chief Executive Officer 

ANNA MEENAN

GLAS Traditional Farm
Buildings Grant Scheme
Project Manager

HELENE O’KEEFFE

Head of Education & 
Communications

IAN DOYLE

Head of Conservation

PAULA DROHAN

Finance Officer

ANNE BARCOE

PA to Chief Executive Officer 
& Chairman

ALISON HARVEY

Planning Officer

BEATRICE KELLY

Head of Policy & Research

AMANDA RYAN

Grants Administrator

COLM MURRAY

Architecture Officer

MICHAEL O’BRIEN

Head of Business Services

GERARD CROKE

Administrator

MARTINA MALONE

Administrator, Website & Social 
Media Content

CHRISTENA RYAN

Administrator
NIAMH DONNELLAN  

Heritage Week Project Manager

LESLEY-ANN HAYDEN
Co-ordinator, Museum Standards Programme for Ireland

LIAM MANNIX
Irish Walled Towns Network Project Manager

PAT REID
Heritagemaps.ie Project Manager

MARIA WALSH 
Heritage in Schools Project Manager

HEADS OF SERVICE PROFESSIONAL OFFICERS ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF

PROJECT MANAGERS

OUR 
STAFF

The staff of the Heritage Council is a small, flexible 
and highly motivated group of people. Their expertise, 
independence and their dedication to heritage define 
the culture of the organisation.
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Back row: left to right, Liam Mannix; Anna Meenan; Amanda Ryan; Colm Murray; Ian Doyle; Helene O’Keeffe; Alison Harvey; Maria 
Walsh; Beatrice Kelly; Gerard Croke. Front row: left to right, Martina Malone; Michael Starrett, Chief Executive; Anne Barcoe; Paula 
Drohan. Not pictured: Niamh Donnellan; Christena Ryan and Michael O’Brien

Heritage Council Staff & 
Project Managers 2017

Heritage Council Building, 
Bishops Palace, Church Lane, 

Kilkenny, Co. Kilkenny
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WHAT DO WE DO? 
The Heritage Council is a public body 
working in the public interest. We seek 
to fulfill our priorities through the provision 
of expert advice, funding, education pro-
grammes and advocacy.

WE ADVISE
The Heritage Council proposes policy 
and priorities to the Minister for Culture, 
Heritage and the Gaeltacht on heritage is-
sues that include sustainability, landscape 
management, high nature value farming, 
forestry and climate change.

WE EDUCATE
Education has always been at the heart of 
the Heritage Council’s work programme. 
Our Heritage in Schools Scheme, in par-
ticular, plays a key role in encouraging 
interest and participation at primary level. 
We also support a wide range of profes-
sional development programmes that to 
date have dealt with landscape, planning, 
museums, archaeology and traditional 
skills.

WE RAISE AWARENESS
Through our publications, promotions, 
social media and the hugely successful 
National Heritage Week we focus on 
contacting, informing, engaging and even 
entertaining as wide, as varied and as cul-
turally diverse range of audiences as pos-
sible. We are ever-conscious of the need 
to remind people of the value and beauty 
of heritage in a time where so many other 
issues and events compete for their atten-
tion.

WE WORK WITH LOCAL 
COMMUNITIES
Community involvement is at the heart of 
the Heritage Council’s vision for national 
heritage. Our work with local communi-
ties supports jobs, education and heritage 
tourism in our local areas, delivering a rich 

tourism experience and excellent practice 
in the care of our nation’s valuable heri-
tage assets.

Since our establishment in 1995, we 
have put in place heritage infrastructure 
and networks to enable communities to 
participate in and take responsibility for 
the development and conservation of the 
heritage of their areas. Success has been 
achieved through working in partnership 
with local authorities and statutory agen-
cies. The results of such projects include the 
Community-Led Village Design Toolkit, the 
Heritage Officer Programme and a wide 
range of projects undertaken under The 
Heritage Management Grants Scheme.

WE WORK WITH PARTNERS
The Heritage Council works with part-
ners, particularly at local level, to increase 
awareness of our national heritage and to 
highlight its importance to public policy 
and everyday life.

Most important is our ongoing 
relationships with local au-
thorities across the country. 
Helping to build expertise 
and resources at local 
level has been a key 
objective of the Her-
itage Council since 
it was established in 
1995. Management 
and responsibility of 
heritage at local level 
is often the best means 
to ensure its long-term 
care and sustainable use.

The Heritage Council has a 
complex national brief across 
natural, cultural and built heritage 
which places a heavy and welcome 
reliance on us to work with others to 
achieve common aims together. In addi-

tion, the Heritage Council provides core 
funding to a number of bodies in order to 
support the needs of the sector and to help 
achieve shared aims.

WE SUPPORT THE HERITAGE SECTOR
The projects and initiatives we fund, partic-
ipate in or support in a range of ways are 
carried out in line with best conservation 
practice. They help support and maintain 
a wide network of highly-skilled heritage 
professionals that includes conservators, 
thatchers, builders, ecologists, archaeol-
ogists, conservation architects and muse-
um curators. Our work complements and 
builds on the work of other state heritage 
bodies which have primary responsibility 
for the care of property in state ownership 
and the designation of protected areas.
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2017 AT A GLANCE

JANUARY

FEBRUARY
• Cork Public Museum; The Glebe House and Gallery, 

OPW; IFI The Irish Film Archive and Russborough House 
begin the MSPI Accreditation process

• Minister Heather Humphreys, TD presents the National 
Heritage Awards on 22 February in the Royal College of 
Physicians in Dublin. Matt Farrell from Edgeworthstown, 
Co. Longford was the worthy recipient of the Heitage Hero 
Award 

MARCH 
• Seventeen representatives from Irish Walled Towns 

Network (IWTN) member towns participate in a 
three-day town regeneration research trip to Wales. 
Conducted in collaboration with CADW.

• The Heritage Council makes a detailed submission to 
the emerging National Planning Framework (NPF)

• Collaborative Town Centre Health Check (TCHC) Train-
ing Workshop takes place in Dublin Castle on 16 March 

• Over 100 event organisers attend the Heritage Week 
Training Day in Dublin Castle on 28 March

• National Planning Framework Advisory Group meeting 

APRIL
• Official opening of the Medieval Mile Museum (St 

Mary’s Church and graveyard), Kilkenny city

• The Sheila na Gig dataset released on heritagemaps.ie

• IWTN support the historic towns conference at NUI 
Maynooth

MAY
• The Irish Walled Towns Network two-day AGM and 

conference is held in Carlingford 

• IWTN supported RIA mapping conference and assist-
ed in the structure of rural development modules at the 
Conference of Irish Geographers in UCC

• Launch of Archaeology 2025 RIA policy document 

• The Prince of Wales and Duchess of Cornwall pay a roy-
al visit to Kilkenny and meet the Board and Staff of the 
Heritage Council

• The Heritage Council launches its first conservation 
grants scheme for MSPI Participants

• Heritage Council Architecture Officer presents 
“Good conservation projects – skills and ethics” to the  
Construction Industry Federation, Register of Heritage 
Contractors on the 26th January

JUNE
• The Board and Staff of the Heritage Council visit 

Sligo and Moygara Castle in particular.

• Launch of Listowel Community-Led Heritage 
Regeneration Srategy

• Significantly enhanced Tourism for Towns Sustainable 
Heritage Tourism advisory document is launched

• Denny Street Workshop with owners/tenants of 
Georgian buildings on the historic street as part of the 
Collaborative Tralee Town Centre Health Check

The Heritage Council| Annual Report 201711



JULY
• Museum Standards Programme for Ireland 10th Anniversary 

Celebration and Awards Ceremony are held at Dublin Castle. 
16 Accreditation Certificates awarded

AUGUST
• Heritage Week lecture series on contemporary uses of 

heritage takes place at the Bishop’s Palace, Kilkenny. 
Tours also given of building

• Terms of membership of the Heritage in Schools Panel 
and photo ID introduced for all Heritage Specialists

• Launch by Minister English, TD of Tralee Town Centre 
Health Check Report 2017 in Kerry County Museum

• National Heritage Week takes place on 19-27 Au-
gust with a focus on Ireland’s natural heritage. Record 
numbers attended over 2,200 events nationwide

• Aug-Sept: Heritage Council input to Failte Ireland 
EDEn sustainable tourism competition and visits 

SEPTEMBER
• Heritage Council representative  presented to the Cre-

ative Ireland network session on European Year of Cul-
tural Heritage (EYCH) 2018

• Heritage Council represented at Ruralia Medieval Ar-
chaeology Conference in Kilkenny

• Dedicated Heritage in Schools Website launched on 
12 September  

• Visit of Ruralia International Medieval rural settlement 
study group to Kilkenny; ongoing North - South en-
gagement

• The daily rate paid to Heritage in Schools Specialists 
increased from €170 to €200

• IWTN-organised Town Co-op seminar and heritage 
tourism research trip to north England

OCTOBER
• Preparation begins for the Historic Towns Initiative

• IWTN funded and assisted in organising a Sustainable 
Tourism conference in Buttevant, Co. Cork

• IWTN-organised urban regeneration research trip for 
delegates from Carrickfergus to Kilkenny and Water-
ford 

NOVEMBER
• Launch of BurrenLife geopark viewer on heritagemaps.ie

• Two day ‘Solving our Own Problems’ urban regenera-
tion event held in Kells, Co.Meath

• Application assessments, shortlisting and interviewing 
of applicants to Heritage in Schools panel

• Heritage Council makes its third submission to the NPF 

• Launch of the European Year of Cultural Heritagein Ire-
land by European commissioner, Tibor Navracsics, on13 
December 2017 at the Creative Ireland forum in Dublin 
Castle 

• The Heritage in Schools 2018-2020 panel is finalised 
and announced

• Solving Our Own Problems Bandon document is 
launched

• Heritage Council’s Planning Officer meets with De-
partment of Housing, Planning and Local Govern-
ment’s Housing Unit about establishing a pilot digital 
vacancy database

DECEMBER 
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OUR WORK IN NUMBERS

THERE ARE 14 
STAFF WORKING AT THE 

HERITAGE COUNCIL 

A NETWORK OF 27 HERITAGE 
OFFICERS WORK FROM LOCAL 

AUTHORITIES ACROSS THE COUNTRY

CHILDREN PARTICIPATED IN 
THE HERITAGE IN SCHOOLS 

PROGRAMME IN 2017

MUSEUM SITES 
PARTICIPATE IN 
THE MUSEUM 
STANDARDS 
PROGRAMME 
FOR IRELAND 

RECORDS ON IRELAND’S 
BIODIVERSITY ARE NOW AVAILABLE 
ON WWW.BIODIVERSITYIRELAND.IE

OVER

PEOPLE ATTENDED 2,299 
EVENTS AROUND THE 

COUNTRY FOR NATIONAL 
HERITAGE WEEK 2017

HISTORIC IRISH TOWNS 
PARTICIPATE IN THE 

IRISH WALLED TOWNS 
NETWORK

 

60

29
ALMOST 

PEOPLE SUBMITTED  TO 
THE HERITAGE COUNCIL 
STRATEGIC PLAN PUBLIC 
CONSULTATION IN 2017

100
TRADITIONAL FARM 

BUILDINGS HAVE BEEN 
CONSERVED SINCE 2008

448

74,026

USERS PER DAY IN ITS 
FIRST YEAR  

HERITAGEMAPS.IE 
HAD AN AVERAGE OF 

190572,760

MILLION

INCREASE IN 
HERITAGE WEEK 

EVENT ORGANISERS 
SINCE 2016

19% 

PEOPLE ATTENDED 19 
EVENTS IN THE IRISH 

WALLED TOWNS NETWORK 
TRAINING PROGRAMME

OVER

900
COMMUNITY PROJECTS 

IN THE ADOPT A 
MONUMENT SCHEME 

13
4
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EDUCATION & OUTREACH

National Heritage Week: 
In 2017, National Heritage Week saw huge increases in com-
munity interest, participation and involvement in Ireland’s heri-
tage. A record 572,760 people participated in 2,299 heritage 
events around the country, 423 more events than last year. 87% 
of the events were free so that heritage could be accessed and 
appreciated by all. A diverse selection of events were planned 
by 1,287 event organisers, ranging from national cultural 
institutions to local community groups and individ-
uals. 

The Heritage in Schools Scheme: 
The enduringly popular educational 
scheme for primary schools contin-
ued to grow in popularity around 
the country in 2017 and 48 new  
Heritage Experts were added 
to the scheme in December. A 
record 2,019 visits took place to 
806 primary schools during the 
year.

The Museum Standards Programme 
for Ireland: The MSPI celebrated its 10th 
anniversary in 2017 during which the MSPI 
continued to deliver quality workshops for partici-
pants and assessors. January saw the Heritage Council launch 
its first conservation grants scheme for MSPI participants and 
in December, 5 MSPI videos were published on the Heritage 
Council’s You Tube channel. The MSPI continued to work 
with the Institute of Conservator-Restorers in Ireland in 2017 
to deliver collections management workshops.  It also sought 
to maintain relevance to accredited participants by holding 
a Business Continuity & Resilience workshop. MSPI asses-
sors attended a workshop in June to ensure they were kept 
up-to-date on museum governance in Ireland under the new 
Companies Act 2014.

POLICY & RESEARCH

Archaeology 2025: 
Launched in May 2017, the Heritage Council played a strong 
role in the delivery of this policy document for the archaeolog-
ical sector in Ireland. It is intended that Archaeology 2025 will 
be used as an advocacy document to inform decision-making 
processes regarding archaeology and cultural heritage, a ref-
erence point for policy, and a key statement from the archaeo-

logical profession in advance of, and to inform, the emerging 
National Heritage Plan.

HeritageMaps.ie: 
The original Heritage Council Heri-

tage Maps viewer went live on 23rd 
August 2012 and operated until tak-
en down in February 2017. It was 
superseded by the re-designed 
HeritageMaps.ie platform that 
went live on 24th August 2016, 
four years after the first version. 

Analytics for the first year of Her-
itageMaps.ie (following Heritage 

Week 2016 ‘soft’ launch) reveal that the 
average user numbers per day are 190. 

Maximum day usage was just under 21,000. 
Ireland has 27.5% of users, US has 24%, UK has 

21.6%, Japan almost 11% and the rest are mainly EU users. The 
user numbers for year one of HeritageMaps.ie are skewed by 
the success of the Sheela-na Gig dataset. However, when we 
remove the Sheela-na-Gig blip, we can access the real rise 
in user numbers. HeritageMaps.ie has 85 sessions per day on 
average and this, when compared to the old Heritage Maps 
figure of 7.9 sessions per day, shows an increase in session 
numbers by 1075% in year one. It is hoped that the increase in 
profile, user numbers and awareness will continue as we build 
on the success of HeritageMaps.ie. 

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS 
IN 2017

The Heritage Council| Annual Report 201715
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The Irish National Strategic Archaeological Research 
(INSTAR) Programme:  
The INSTAR Programme is a partnership between the Heritage 
Council and the Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gael-
tacht. Its project ‘Landscape and Settlement of Later Prehistoric 
South East Ireland (Seeing Beyond the Site)’ completed its final 
year in 2017.  This project is an interdisciplinary study that uses 
combined palaeoenvironmental and archaeological methods 
to investigate human activity and landscape change during the 
Late Bronze Age and Iron Age (1200BC and AD400) in coun-
ties Wexford, Waterford, Kilkennny and Carlow. 

Traditional Buildings and Renovations for Energy Saving:
The Heritage Council, in conjunction with ICOMOS Ireland’s 
National Scientific Committee on Energy, Sustainability and 
Climate Change secured funding from Sustainable Energy Au-
thority of Ireland to carry out a research study entitled ‘Deep En-
ergy Renovation of Traditional Buildings: assessing knowledge 
gaps and addressing skills training in Ireland’. This involved a 
collaboration between a state agency, an NGO and the pri-
vate sector, based on grant support from the Sustainable Energy 
Authority of Ireland, a separate arm of the State. 

Built on a successful colloquium held on 28th February to discuss 
‘Deep Energy Retro-Fitting of Existing Buildings’, which brought 
together stakeholders from government departments, NGOs, 
Universities and the UK, this innovative collaboration is a tem-
plate for the type of co-operative action involving governmental 
and non-governmental partners that is needed to achieve solu-
tions to complex issues affecting our communities.

Urban Housing Vacancy: 
The Heritage Council commissioned a scoping study to review 
the existing research carried out in relation to the built heritage. 
The purpose was to establish if the research provides useful 
insights or methodologies for bringing vacant dwellings back 
into use at a time of housing shortages.

The Passage Tomb Archaeology of the Great Mound at 
Knowth: In December 2017 the Heritage Council-supported 
volume ‘The Passage Tomb Archaeology of the Great Mound at 
Knowth’ was launched by the Royal Irish Academy. The Heritage 
Council and the National Monuments Service supported the 
post-excavation analysis costs during 2007-9 relating to the 
long running research programme at this UNESCO World 
Heritage Site. The publication of the volume marks the end of 
the reporting on the excavations and a volume describing the 
world famous megalithic art from Knowth is anticipated. 

The Heritage Officer Network: 
Four training events were held with the Heritage Officer Network 
over 2017 – in February in Dundalk, and in Kilkenny in May, 
September and December. Steps were taken to consolidate 
the newly formed Heritage Officer Network with Shirley 
Clerkin (Monaghan) being elected Chairperson and Gerry 
Clabby (Fingal) as Vice-Chair. Other topics covered during the 
2017 training included planning for National Heritage Week, 
European Year of Cultural Heritage, the National Heritage 
Plan, valuation of heritage, and the emerging strategic plan 
for the Heritage Council. A new heritage officer started in 
Westmeath during June 2017, and we said farewell in February 
to Tim Carey in Dun Laoghaire Rathdown who moved on to join 
the Department of Housing, Planning, Community and Local 
Government.

Adopt a Monument Scheme: 
As developed in Scotland by Archaeology Scotland, the 
Adopt a Monument Scheme provides people of all ages with 
the opportunity to engage with heritage in a manner which 
empowers and educates participants, whilst promoting a 
sense of ownership and civic pride. The scheme began with six 
communities selected in 2016 and, after a competitive open 
process in early 2017, seven new community archaeology 
projects were selected. 

Shirley Clerkin, Chairperson 
of the Heritage Officer 
Network, May 2017

COMMUNITY & CONSERVATION INITIATIVES & PROJECts 
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Crusher House at Barravore in the Glenmalure Valley 
of Co. Wicklow is a member of the Heritage Council’s 
Adopt a Monument programme. As part of the Glens 
of Lead interpretative trail the local heritage group 
adopted this monument, carried out conservation works 
and in August 2017 held an open day and launch.

The Irish Walled Towns Network: 
The IWTN provided €276,000 to fifteen conservation 
projects in 2017. One of the highlights was the Town 
Kick Start initiative in Kells, Co. Meath. The project 
combined conservation work to main street facades 
with conservation training, retailer training, mentoring 
and a community led regeneration plan. Aside from the 
conservation work which took place across the country, 
a further €144,000 was provided to support 24 events 
and interpretation projects. The IWTN is the main 
financial and training partner of the Loughrea Medieval 
Festival, Ireland’s largest free medieval festival.

The Medieval Mile Museum: 
In April 2017 the Medieval Mile Museum was officially 
opened as a visitor attraction in Kilkenny. One of the 
first conservation plans undertaken by the Heritage 

Council was on St Mary’s Church and Graveyard. 
This plan was published in 2005. Negotiations over 
the implementation of the plan, the negotiated sale 
and conservation of the complex took place between 
2005 and 2017 which culminated in the opening of 
the Medieval Mile Museum. As well as undertaking the 
conservation plan, the Heritage Council contributed to 
the property acquisition costs and to the costs involved 
in conserving the highly significant sixteenth and 
seventeenth century tombs. 

Moygra Castle: 
In June 2017 the Board of the Heritage Council visited 
Moygara Castle in Co. Sligo. A partnership between 
the castle owner and IT Sligo, the project  aims to 
investigate and conserve this important seventeenth 
century structure which has received support from the 
Heritage Council for conservation assessments and 
surveys.

Listowel Conservation Plan: 
In June 2017 Kerry County Council launched a Heritage 
Led Community Conservation Plan for the historic town 
of Listowel. The Heritage Council encouraged Listowel  
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Municipal Area through its participation in the 2013-14 Historic 
Towns Initiative to commission a long-term plan for the town. 
Listowel possesses a significant streetscape and an impressive 
intangible literary heritage.  

GLAS  Traditional Farm Buildings Grant Scheme: 
The Heritage Council continued to build on its partnership with 
the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine in the GLAS 
traditional farm buildings grant scheme. 2017 was a record year 
for the scheme. Fifty-nine projects - the highest number since the 
scheme began - were supported this year. These included the 
conservation of 73 buildings and five walling projects. The latter 
included a walled orchard at Kilbrack Organic Farm, the first 
walled orchard supported by the scheme. It shelters apple trees 
which produce a particularly tasty apple juice! 

We celebrated another record in Donegal with the first ever 
grant-aided thatch project under the scheme. Pat and Elizabeth 
Sheehan (pictured on the next page) won the 2017 Origin 
Green Photo of the Year Competition with the photo they took 
of the building they repaired themselves. 

Fingal Community Archaeologst: 
With co-funding from the Heritage Council, Fingal County 
Council employed a full-time Community Archaeologist in 
May 2017 for a three-year period. This allows the Council 

to deliver a full programme of activities including community 
excavations and events, preparing management plans, and 
providing advice and guidance to the Council in relation to 
Fingal’s archaeological resource. 

In 2017 the Swords Castle archaeological project continued 
during Heritage Week. This allowed volunteers, including 
teenagers, students and retirees, to try their hand at 
archaeological excavation. Participants included locals, people 
from the wider Fingal area; members of new communities; 
several family groups; a number of tourists; Fingal County 
Council staff members; members of the National Learning 
Network, Tourism Ireland, Prosper Fingal, members of other 
community archaeology groups, several heritage professionals 
and students. Based on this, two artists worked in consultation 
with Dr Meriel McClatchie of the School of Archaeology UCD 
to develop a collaborative project entitled ‘All Bread is Wood: 
This Dirt.’ This was an artistic interpretation of the environmental 
evidence from Swords Castle- one of the largest seed 
assemblages in Ireland - recovered from the previous seasons 
of excavation.

INTERNATIONAL INITIATIVES 

European Year of Cultural Heritage:
Minister Heather Humphreys TD appointed the Heritage 
Council as co-ordinator in Ireland for European Year of Cultural 
Heritage (EYCH). December 2017 saw the official launch of 
EYCH by European commissioner, Tibor Navracsics, at the 
Creative Ireland forum in Dublin Castle.

European Heritage Days (EHD):
Heritage Week secured €10,000 pilot project funding from 
the European Commission for the project ‘Sharing Stories: 
Increasing minority participation in European Heritage Days’. 
It involves seeking ways to increase understanding and 
appreciation of minority heritage in Europe by empowering 
people to share their stories. A Heritage Week representative 
attended an EHD workshop from 10-12 September in Helsinki 
entitled ‘Heritage and Sustainable Development: The Road to 
Success’.

The Ruralia International Medieval Rural Settlement 
Conference: 
The Ruralia Conference was hosted in Kilkenny with the 
Heritage Council providing a barbeque for the delegates. 
Field trips included many of the projects supported by the 
Heritage Council such as Newtown Jerpoint, Co. Kilkenny and 
Clonmines, Co. Wexford.

The Swords Castle archaeological 
project, Heritage Week 2017 
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Since 2011 the Heritage Council has participated in the 
pan-European Joint Programming Initiative for Cultural 
Heritage (JPICH). The overall aim of the Joint Programming 
process is to pool national research efforts in order to 
make better use of Europe’s public research, development 
and innovation resources and to tackle common European 
challenges more effectively in key areas. As such, EU member 
states agree, on a voluntary basis and in a partnership approach, 
on common visions and Strategic Research Agendas (SRA) in 
order to address major societal challenges. 

In 2017 the Heritage Council agreed to participate as a research 
funder in the Heritage Changing Environments Research Call. 
These projects will be approved in 2018 after international peer 
review.

European Eden Sustainable  Tourism Awards: 
Council’s executive participated during August and September 
as member of the European Eden sustainable tourism awards 
judging panel. Eden is run in Ireland by Failte Ireland and the 
theme in 2017 was the sustainable use of cultural heritage. The 
2017 Irish winner was Scattery Island, Co Clare, where a local 
heritage group are seeking to develop the island for sustainable 
tourism. The runners up included the North Mayo Ceide coast 
and the Wexford County Council Norman Way heritage trail.

Winners of the 2017 Origin Green Photo of 
the Year Competition 

The Heritage Council| Annual Report 2017 20

Chairman of the Heritage Council, Michael Parsons  
and EYCH National Coordinator, Beatrice Kelly at 

the launch of the European Year of Cultural  Heritage 
in Dublin Castle in December 2017

Joint Programming Initiative for Cultural 
Heritage:



THE HERITAGE COUNCIL ONLINE
The Heritage Council engages with a broad range of 
communities through a variety of social media platforms. 
Social media provides the organisation with an 
opportunity to communicate the value of the work that we 
do and to generate interest and awareness of both local 
and national heritage-related issues and activities with 
the general public. It also allows us to connect frequently 
with the diverse range of practitioners, professionals and 

organisations engaged in heritage-related work, allows 
them to connect with each other and share information 
related to heritage training and projects, jobs, tender 
opportunities, publications, research and funding 
opportunities. The number of followers across the range 
of social media platforms has been increasing steadily 
over the past number of years.

By the end of 2017, the Heritage 
Council’s Facebook page had 
13,059 Likes, an increase of 18% from 
10,500 Likes at the end of 2016. The 
majority of followers (19%) are aged 
between 35-44 years, followed by 
15% aged between 45-54 and 13% 
aged between 25-34 years olds. 
55-64 year olds account for 8% of 
followers, 65 years+ accounts for 5% 
and 18-24 year olds account for 2%.

The Heritage Council is on 
Twitter @HeritageHubIRE. We 
had 7,282 followers by the end 
of 2017, up 20% from 5,809 
followers at the start of the year. 
51% of followers on Twitter are 
women and 49% are men. 

The Heritage Council’s monthly ez-
ine had 13,900 subscribers at the 
end of 2017 (up from 5% from 13,141 
in 2016). The ezine contains news, 
events, tenders and employment op-
portunities and is subscribed to by 
those with an interest in heritage and 
industry professionals alike.

FACEBOOK

TWITTER

EZINE

FOLLOWERS 

7,282

INCREASE IN 2017
20%

INCREASE IN 2017

   5%

SUBSCRIBERS 

13,900
PAGE LIKES 

13,059

INCREASE IN 2017

18%

EZINE
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MAKING THE NEWS IN 2017

Dublin Castle Pilot CTCHC Workshop, March 2017 L to R, Alison Harvey (Pilot CTCHC Programme Co-ordinator), Terry Sheridan (Princi-
pal Officer, Department of Housing, Planning, Community and Local Government), Minister English T.D., Minister of State for Housing and 

Urban Regeneration, Tara Buckley (CEO RGDATA)

Matt Farrell from Edgeworthstown, Co. Longford, recipient of the Heritage 
Hero Award in February 2017, photographed with his grandson

Presentation to HRH Prince Charles by Chairman of the 
Heritage Council, Michael Parsons and Chief Executive, 

Michael Starrett at Kilkenny Castle in May 2017

Launch of Heritage in Schools (HIS) website in September with HIS 
Specialist, Grace Garde; Chairman of the Heritage Council, Michael 

Parsons; HIS Project Manager, Maria Walsh and children from St. 
Brigid’s Primary School

THE HERITAGE COUNCIL ONLINE
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STRATEGIC Objective 1: 
Advancing National Heritage Priorities 
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ADVOCATING FOR HERITAGE: ADVICE & POLICY 

The National Planning Framework – Ireland 2040 
Since its foundation in 1995, the Heritage Council has 
undertaken extensive research, policy development and pilot 
programme formulation, delivery and evaluation, in relation to 
the management of Ireland’s unique national heritage. On that 
basis and as a prescribed authority/body for the purposes of 
the Planning and Development Acts 2000-2016, the Heritage 
Council made two detailed submissions to the emerging 
National Planning Framework (NPF) 2040 in March and 
November 2017. 

The submission in March focused on cultural growth and 
development as a 4th pillar of sustainable development 
and opportunities to support the EU Faro Convention (CETS 
No. 199). The  submission linked the NPF to Biodiversity, 
Landscape and Green Infrastructure (GI). It also examined 
the NPF in relation to the health and wellbeing of people and 
places and to placemaking. The Heritage Council made 
recommendations about adaptation to Climate 
Change, Maritime Spatial Planning (MSP) 
and seascape character assessment.

The submission in November focused 
on realising our sustainable future. 
This includes the need for a National 
Brownfield Summit and Development 
Programme; support for the Atlantic 
Economic Corridor through Heritage 
Council structures and networks; 
the prioritisation of climate change 
mitigation and adaptation measures 
and the inclusion of seascape character 
assessment in the NPF in light of MSP and 
EU SEA indicators. The Heritage Council made 
recommendations in relation to dealing with vacancy and the 
reuse of existing buildings in historic settlements and planning for 
diverse rural places. Also recommended was the establishment 
of a National Regeneration Agency. The November submission 
also focused on our marine potential and inland waterways 
network. 

Supporting Projects that Monitor Change

The National Biodiversity Data Centre 
The National Biodiversity Data Centre, which was established 
by the Heritage Council in 2007, is a national centre that col-

lects and manages data to document Ireland’s wildlife resource 
and to track how it is changing. The centre is funded by the Her-
itage Council and the Department of Culture, Heritage and the 
Gaeltacht with an annual core budget of just over €0.6 million 
per year. It employs seven full-time staff and provides the data 
management services to document and manage data about 
Ireland’s biological diversity, a resource which contributes at 
least €2.6 billion to the Irish economy each year. The National 
Biodiversity Data Centre’s national mapping portal Biodiver-
sity Maps, now maps more than 4.16 million observations of 
16,088 species from 144 separate datasets, and all these data 
are now freely available to inform decision-making to help the 
conservation of biological diversity.   

The Data Centre manages a large network of citizen scientists 
who contribute a great deal of data on biodiversity in their lo-
cality. During the year the number of records submitted by citi-
zen scientists directly to the Data Centre exceed a quarter of a 
million, making this a hugely important source of information on 
Ireland’s biological diversity. The Data Centre also published the 

‘Atlas of Mammals in Ireland, 2010-2015’, the first ever 
publication to map the distribution of all terrestrial 

and marine mammals recorded in Ireland and its 
marine territory.

National Biodiversity Indicators: In 2017, 
the Data Centre published the first report 
on National Biodiversity Indicators: Status 
and Trends 2017 report, which summarises 
trends in the health of our species, land-

scapes and seascapes, as well as reflecting 
broad changes in Irish society’s relationship 

with wildlife protection. 

National Monitoring Programmes: Three national 
monitoring programmes tracking change in Ireland’s insects are 
well established and the longest running one, the Irish Butterfly 
Monitoring Scheme, now has 10 years of continuous data. The 
Bumblebee Monitoring Scheme is also providing very valuable 
data on pollination services from 103 sites across the country 
and the conservation of the Marsh Fritillary, the only species of 
insect afforded protection under the EU Habitats Directive, is 
now monitored from 38 sites. 

All-Ireland Pollinator Plan 2015-2020 was launched by the 
National Biodiversity Data Centre in 2015 with the support of 
the Heritage Council and Bord Bia in order to address the crit-
ical issue of declining pollinator numbers in Ireland. The plan is
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endorsed by 80 governmental and non-governmental organi-
sations and identifies 81 actions to make Ireland more pollina-
tor-friendly. 2017 has seen continuous implementation of the 
identified actions, with 54% of the actions already completed, 
37% in train with only 9% of actions not yet commenced. This 
is a remarkable rate of delivery and demonstrates the success 
of the plan. The All-Ireland Pollinator Plan has been featured in 
presentations made at various international academic fora (in-
cluding lectures at the University of Wurzburg, Germany, Ox-
ford, UK and Bern, Switzerland) and has attracted internation-
al acclaim and interest. It has recently informed development 
of plans in Scotland, Norway (ongoing) and the Netherlands 
(to be launched January 2018). It has contributed to the devel-
opment of phase two of the International Pollinator Initiative, 
as instigated by the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the 
United Nations at the request of Conference of Parties to the 
Convention on Biological Diversity. It was highly commended 
at the launch of the Irish National Biodiversity Plan

Supporting the European Union’s Invasive Alien Species Reg-
ulation reporting requirements: The Data Centre is providing 
information and support to National Parks and Wildlife Service  
(NPWS) in implementation of the European Regulation on in-
vasive alien species (1143/2014). Current work is focused on 
reporting on under three articles of this EU Regulation, namely: 

Article 13(1) Undertake comprehensive pathway analysis 
of unintentional introduction and spread and prioritisation 
of those pathways. 

Article 14(1) Establish or include in existing systems a sur-
veillance system for first list of 37 Invasive Alien Species 
of Union Concern Species which collects data on oc-
currence in environment to prevent spread into or within 
union that can also determine presence and distribution 
of new or already established species; be dynamic for 

early detection; build upon, be compatible with and avoid 
duplication of existing systems such as Water Framework 

Directive, Marine Strategy Framework Directive and Habits 
Directive. 

Article 19(1) Create Management Plans with NPWS for 
widely spread species from the first list of 37 Invasive Alien 
Species of Union concern so their impact is minimized. 

PROMOTING THE SUSTAINABILITY  OF RURAL COMMUNITIES

Bere Island Projects Group 
Bere Island Project Group (BIPG) is a community group work-
ing to sustain the population of Bere Island, Co. Cork, through 
the creation of employment, promoting community initiatives 
and supporting local businesses. Since 2003, the Heritage 
Council has funded a full-time development worker to imple-
ment a conservation plan which has been drawn up for the 
island. 

Bere Island Projects Group carried out a number of projects 
and initiatives under the Conservation Plan in 2017. To mark the 
centenary of the arrival of the US Navy to Bere Island during 
WW1, a weekend of events were held which included a pho-
tographic exhibition and talks by a local historian Ted Sullivan,  
and conflict archaeologist Damien Shiels. During Heritage 
Week a demonstration was held on blackberry jam making, 
a guided military history walk and a night sky viewing with the 
Cork Astronomy Club.

In 2017 grant funding was awarded from the Heritage Council 
to fund a feasibility study into Bere Island becoming a Dark Sky 
area.  A number of events were held with the Cork Astronomy 
Club, including astronomical talks and night sky viewings, a 
community telescope  was purchased and an astronomy walk-
ing trail planned.  

A number of cultural events were held on the island in 2017 
including two performances of Tom Crean Antarctic Explorer, 

Left to Right: Dr Liam Lysaght, Director of the NBDC;  ecologist and 
broadcaster, Éanna Ní Lamhna and Dr Ferdia Marnell, National Parks 
and Wildlife Service at the Launch of the Atlas of Mammals in Ireland 

Courtesy of Dr Liam Lysaght
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and four performances of the West Cork Fit Up Theatre Festi-
val. BIPG also continued to work with the West Cork Islands 
Interagency Group and Community Council to put the Islands 
firmly on the agenda of the various government agencies in 
Cork County.  

Irish Uplands Forum 
The Irish Upland Forum (IUF) is a voluntary body which assists 
upland communities in addressing the many economic, social 
and environmental challenges arising in the upland districts of
Ireland. Its vision is to maintain upland communities and Ire-
land’s iconic mountain environs as attractive, vibrant and wel-
coming places where people live, work and enjoy recreation.

The Council’s Upland Partnership Network is an all-Ireland 
partnership initiative comprising national government, local 
government, upland community, hill-farming, recreational user 
and ecological and rural NGO actors working together in 
an integrated manner to ensure the long-term viability of the 
uplands. The invaluable role of the IUF over many years has 
been the foundation to this new network and IUF are involved 
in day-to-day aspects and management of the function with the 
Heritage Council. 

Based on the findings of two research reports, namely ‘The 
Uplands Community Study’ (Alan Hill) and ‘The Irish Uplands 
Socio-Economic Profile (Crowley, O’Keeffe and O’Sullivan), 

the IUF hopes to develop training programmes and funding for 
the study trips and other key strategic plans that each group 
requires. A management group of key experts has been ap-
pointed to guide the programme and grant scheme which is 
being launched in 2018. 

An important first step was the engagement in 2017 of a nation-
al Upland Network Co-ordinator to assist and support local 
groups in engaging with State rural heritage-led regeneration 
programmes. In this role, Mary Mulvey will network all the 
relevant state agencies, stakeholders and community member 
groups and provide bespoke education and training and facil-
itate interests ranging from EIPs in agriculture to tourism, social 
heritage and conservation.  

Mary Mulvey, who holds postgraduate qualifications in Irish 
Heritage Management and Ecotourism, has a strong record 
of working in the rural economy, with a focus on and interest 
in rural /agri-tourism; natural and built heritage; the arts and 
eco-tourism. With over 28 years’ experience in working with 
national agencies and NGOS, both in Ireland and at Inter-
national levels, she has gained extensive experience of project 
management and the development of networks. After seven 
months in the role of Upland Network Co-ordinator, Mary 
Mulvey acknowledges that there is a real need for the voice of 
the uplands to be heard at all levels in national policies. 

The Milky Way viewed over Ardagh 
Tower taken as part of the Bere 
Island Dark Sky Project 
Photo by Chris Twomey

Cornamona , County Galway
Courtesy of Mary Mulvey, IUF
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HERITAGE PRESERVATION & CONSERVATION  

The Conservation Internship Scheme 
The Heritage Council continued to support a Conservation In-
ternship Scheme in five of Ireland’s national cultural institutions 
– the National Gallery of Ireland, Trinity College Dublin, the 
National Library of Ireland, the National Archives of Ireland 
and the Chester Beatty Library. Recent post-graduate students 
of book, paper and painting conservation had an exciting op-
portunity to go to Dublin to continue to develop their skills work-
ing with Ireland’s prestigious collections under the supervision 
of conservators of international reputation.  

This internship scheme, initiated in 2006, also promotes net-
working and learning among the interns who meet regularly to 
discuss their various projects. A stipulation of the scheme is that 
interns present a project to the general public during Heritage 
Week. In 2017 the range of projects undertaken included pre-
paring works of art for the reopening of the National Gallery, 
working with Asian and Islamic materials at the Chester Beatty 
Library, repairing bindings on significant works in the library of 
Trinity College Dublin’s historic collection, repairing 19th-centry 
valuation maps to give access to researchers at the National 
Archives of Ireland and preparing books and ephemera in the 
This internship, which now has an international reputation, is un-
derstood as an opportunity to work in busy workshops, honing 
and learning new skills and ultimately, while nominally students, 
the interns are remembered, respected and valued for the skills 
they contribute to the preservation of works in these important 
Irish collections.   

The five interns to participate in the scheme in 2017 were Claire 
Dantin at the National Library of Ireland, Erica D’Allessandro 
at the library of Trinity College Dublin, Ellen McKeever at the 
National Archives of Ireland, Dorothea Müller at the Chester 
Beatty Library and Giulia Campagnari at the National Gallery 
of Ireland.

Supporting Archives and Records Resource (IAR)
The Irish Archives Resource (IAR), which can be found at www.
iar.ie, is an online portal containing searchable archival de-
scriptions. The purpose of the IAR portal is to allow users to 
locate archives and records that are relevant to their research; 
to increase the use of archives by directing researchers to the 
relevant archives services; and to encourage the development 
and publication of comprehensive, standardised archive de-
scriptions.

The portal receives funding from the Heritage Council and 

the Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht. It is 
run on a mainly voluntary basis with support from the Archives 
and Records Association and the School of History, UCD. In 
November 2017, the Irish Archives Resource launched an edu-
cational resource pack on the 1918 General Election, ‘Pledge 
Ourselves and Our People’.

ENGAGING WITH LOCAL AND EUROPEAN NETWORKS 

Irish Walled Towns Network 
The role of the Irish Walled Towns Network (IWTN) is to 
unite and co-ordinate the strategic efforts of local authorities 
involved in the management, conservation and enhancement 
of historic walled towns in Ireland, both North and South. The 
Network is formally linked to European Walled Towns, which 
is the international association for the sustainable development 
of walled towns, walled cities and fortified historic towns. Es-
tablished by the Heritage Council in 2005, there are currently 
29 member towns and villages throughout Ireland. These are: 
Athenry, Athlone, Athy, Bandon, Buttevant, Carlingford, Castle-
fergus, Carrick-on-Suir, Cashel, Castledermot, Clonmel, Cork 
City, Derry/ Londonderry, Drogheda, Dublin City, Fethard, 
Galway, Kells, Kildare, Kilkenny, Kilmallock, Limerick City, 
Loughrea, New Ross, Rinn Dúin (Rindoon), Trim, Waterford, 
Wexford and Youghal.

Since 2007, the IWTN has actively engaged in the physical 
conservation of Ireland’s town walls through the provision of 
funding and guidance (€276,000 provided in 2017). As part 
of our education programme, we also provide training on 
building conservation and the appropriate management of his-
toric town centres (over 900 attendees of 19 events in 2017). 
The events and heritage interpretation actions we support via 
grants and training serve to deepen the connection between 
people and place (€144,000 in 2017). In 2017 over 35,000 
people attended IWTN-supported events. 

Through our advisory documents we have provided guidance 
on participative urban regeneration, heritage interpretation 
and most recently, sustainable heritage tourism in historic towns. 
the management of the urban historic resources for both the 
government and local communities. In 2017, we published a 
significantly enlarged Tourism for Towns: sustainable heritage 
tourism Advisory Document and the Solving our Own Problems 
Bandon Urban Regeneration Plan. It is our intention to continue 
to provide appropriate advice on the management of the ur-
ban historic resources for both the government and local com-
munities. 
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While the main objective of the IWTN is to ensure that 
these fascinating town walls do not collapse, almost all 
the projects also have a tangible economic benefit. In 
the government’s action plan for rural Ireland (Realising 
our rural potential: action plan for rural development, 
2016) action 199 is dedicated to the IWTN: Support the 
Irish Walled Towns Network to ensure that these heritage 
assets are appropriately managed and conserved as a 
tourism asset to their areas. 

The provision of ongoing support for the IWTN is one 
of nine actions in the government’s plan for rural Ireland 

where the Heritage Council is noted as being a respon-
sible body. Since 2005, the IWTN has endeavoured to 
protect and promote the medieval heritage of walled 
towns across the island. 

Recently, we established in an information exchange 
relationship with CADW in Wales. In 2017, seventeen 
delegates from IWTN member towns visited four Welsh 
towns to learn about heritage led urban regeneration. In 
2018, we will host a Welsh delegation.  Closer to home 
we cooperate closely with the Heritage Officer network 
and MSPI.
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STRATEGIC Objective 2: 
Nurturing Belonging 
through a sense of identity and place 
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SUPPORTING PROJECTS THAT PROMOTE INCLUSIVITY 

The National Heritage Awards 
The Heritage Council’s Heritage Awards shine a spotlight on 
Ireland’s Heritage Heroes and showcase the most engaging 
and innovative National Heritage Week events.

The 2017 award categories sought to nurture a sense of pride 
of place and community involvement in Heritage 
Week. The Heritage Hero Award is for some-
one who always goes the extra mile for her-
itage, an individual or organisation who 
makes an outstanding contribution to 
the protection and promotion of her-
itage in their local area. Anyone 
can nominate a Heritage Hero. 
The Hidden Heritage Award 
shines a light on Ireland’s hidden 
heritage. This award is open to 
event organisers who successfully 
explored lesser known aspects of 
Ireland’s heritage during National 
Heritage Week. A new award for 
2017, Heritage Communities, was 
open to event organisers who brought 
their community together to celebrate Na-
tional Heritage Week. It highlighted events 
that reached across a community where organisers 
worked in partnership with other community groups or en-
couraged new groups to take part. The Cool for Kids Award 
focused on events that helped children learn about and enjoy 
heritage. This award was open to event organisers who encour-
aged children to participate in National Heritage Week.

NATIONAL HERITAGE WEEK

Heritage Week 2017 saw huge increases in community interest, 
participation and involvement in Ireland’s heritage.  A record 
572,760 people participated in 2,299 heritage events around 
the country, 500 more events than last year.  87% of the events 
were free so that heritage could be accessed and appreciat-

ed by all. 1,287 event organisers planned events, ranging from 
national cultural institutions to local community groups and in-
dividuals.

Heritage Week 2017 focused on Ireland’s natural heritage 
through tours, walks, workshops, talks, exhibitions, outdoor ac-
tivities and more.  People took the opportunity to learn how we 

can protect our endangered species and habitats and 
see how the work and commitment of local 

communities and many individuals is help-
ing to conserve nature, for us and for 

future generations. During the week 
the inaugural Wild Child Day 

on Wednesday 23rd August 
2017 saw communities come 
together to plan natural her-
itage events where children 
explored the outdoors and 
experienced our natural heri-
tage first hand.

REACHING OUT TO THE DIASPORA 

Ireland Reaching Out 
Ireland Reaching Out (Ireland XO) is 

the National Diaspora Programme that 
enables local Irish communities all over the is-

land of Ireland to connect with people descended from 
the area. These connections are formed and managed through 
the www.irelandxo.com website, which has over 100,000 
members worldwide, and allows every community to manage 
their own global diaspora network.

In 2017, Ireland XO volunteers facilitated an unprecedented 
277 visitors who returned to Ireland to discover more about 
their ancestral origins and Irish cultural identity. With year-on-
year growth in ancestral tourism key to Ireland’s position as 
an international holiday destination, Ireland Reaching Out’s 
volunteer network is playing a key role in providing the local 
knowledge and céad míle fáilte that can sustain this growth.
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The XO Chronicles was rolled out to more than 2,500 civil 
parishes around Ireland. This interactive online platform invites 
Ireland XO members to create historical links between people, 
place and time, and is organised by county and by civil parish. 
The Chronicles have already become a unique and valuable 
local heritage tool, enabling local communities to share histor-
ical information online, connect with their own diaspora and 
collaborate on local heritage projects.

Ireland Reaching Out is looking for people who have an inter-
est in local heritage and who would like to be involved in wel-
coming returning visitors to their own community. Please email 
info@irelandxo.com for more information.

HERITAGE  COUNCIL GRANT  PROGRAMMES 

GLAS TFB Grant Scheme  
The Heritage Council has been running the hugely popular, 
Traditional Farm Building Scheme (TFBS) in conjunction with the 
Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine since 2008. 
The scheme recognises the value of traditional farm buildings 
and their contribution to the Irish landscape by providing grants 

for their repair and conservation. In 2016, the TFBS was 
moved to the ‘Green Low-Carbon Agri-Environment 

Scheme’ (GLAS) and is open to participants of that 
scheme.

The scheme has now been extended to not only 
support traditional farm buildings but other farm 
landscape features of heritage value such as 
stone walls, piers, field gates, cobbled yards and 
farm bridges. It sets out to protect the ‘ordinary’ 
buildings used in agriculture as these buildings 
and other features of the farm add value to the 
Irish landscape.

In 2017 fifty-nine grantees were supported to con-
serve 73 buildings and five other related structures, 

including field boundary walls and an orchard. This 
conservation work requires the engagement of skilled 

crafts people and professionals throughout the country. 
Training at multiple levels continues as a component of the 

scheme, including farm-skills training and demonstration days 
which support the active transfer of traditional skills in the ver-
nacular context, helping to futureproof the buildings beyond the 
grant itself.

Heritage Grants Overview 2017
€806,422 was made available through both the Heritage 
Council and the Department of Culture, Heritage and the 
Gaeltacht for the Community-Based Heritage Grants Scheme 
in 2017. 185 heritage projects from across the country were 
selected from nearly 430 applications to receive funding. The 
grants support the continuing conservation and development 
of Irish heritage through the work of community-based groups.

A diverse range of projects benefited from the grants in both ru-
ral and urban settings, and include habitat, threatened species 
and built heritage conservation. The diverse projects reflect our 
cultural identity and distinctiveness as a people. If properly re-
sourced they have the potential to give back to the community 
and to the country for generations to come. The projects keep 
threatened aspects of our heritage alive and provide people 
with an opportunity to be directly involved in developing the 
future of their places. 

Many of the projects reflect years of ongoing work at com-
munity level to protect our heritage for the future. The grants 
scheme also supports the local economy, boosts tourism and 
makes our country a better place in which to live and work.

Jim Finnegan's return to Williamstown in 
Galway from California

Courtesy of Ireland Reaching Out
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GLAS TFB Grant Scheme  
Top row: Cavan, Roscommon
Middle: Cavan Landscape (of the building featured above)
Third row: Cavan (again! Different building), Waterford
Bottom row: IGS/UAHS summer school visit to TFB project in Donegal.
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REgeneration OF URBAN  CENTRES

Pilot Collaborative Town Centre Health Check (CTCHC) 
Training Programme
Building on the cultural engagement and collaboration gener-
ated as part of the 2016 centenary celebrations, the Heritage 
Council, along with the Retail Grocery Dairy & Allied Trades 
Association (RGDATA) and the Retail Consortium developed 
a pilot trans-disciplinary National Town Centre Health Check 
Training Programme in conjunction with eight participating 
towns across the country. The aim of the pilot is to develop an 
innovative town centre-led retail, cultural heritage and tourism 
baseline, which would be recognised internationally as a best 
practice collaborative development model for regeneration. 

The initiative was delivered in collaboration with the Depart-
ment of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht, the Department 
of Housing, Planning, Community & Local Government, the Irish 
Planning Institute (IPI), the Irish Landscape Institute (ILI), Royal 
Institute of the Architects of Ireland (RIAI), University College 
Dublin, Limerick Institute of Technology Thurles, Dublin Institute 
of Technology, Galway Institute of Technology and Queens 
University Belfast. 

The aims of the pilot CTCHC training programme are to raise 
awareness, understanding and appreciation of the critical role 
that historic town centres play in the life of communities and the

wide-ranging impacts that their viability have on overall so-
cio-economic, environmental and cultural development of the 
town. The training programme also supports the delivery of the 
Heritage Council’s ‘Policy Proposals for Ireland’s Towns’, (2015).

A workshop entitled, ‘Lessons Learned’ was facilitated by the 
Heritage Council in the Custom House in mid-February 2017 to 
discuss the experiences of the third-level key education partners 
involved in the pilot training programme. Nine recommenda-
tions were agreed. On 16 March 2017 Revitalising Ireland’s 
Towns: Pilot Training Workshop No. 2 convened in Dublin Cas-
tle. In attendance were representatives from the partner institu-
tions  and local authorities for each of the pilot towns: Ballina, 
Cashel, Ennis, Dundalk, Monaghan Town, Naas, Rush and 
Tralee. The attendance reflected an 87% growth in demand 
since the first workshop in September 2016.

In late 2016 students from the Institute of Technology Tralee used 
the 15-Step methodology as set out in the Pilot TCHC Training 
Programme to undertake CTCHC research in Tralee. August 
2017 saw the launch of the Tralee Town Centre Health Check 
Summary Report by Minister English T.D., the key findings of 
which led directly to the Denny Street and Buildings Revitalisa-
tion Project, the second phase of which continues in 2018. 

In November 2017 Tralee, County Kerry was named the overall 
winner in the Bank of Ireland Most Enterprising Town Awards. 

 Launch of Tralee Town Centre Health Check (TCHC) Summary Report 2017 in August 2017
 L-R: Miriam Fitzpatrick, Heritage Council Board Member; Alison Harvey, Pilot CTCHC Programme Co-ordinator; Norma Foley, Mayor of Tralee; Minister of 

State, Damien English T.D; Cllr. John Sheahan, Mayor of Kerry and Chairman of the Heritage Council, Michael Parsons
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Working to Improve Heritage Management 

Adopt a Monument Scheme 
Following in the successful footsteps of Archaeology Scot-
land’s Adopt a Monument Scheme, the Heritage Council, in 
conjunction with Abarta Heritage, launched the first similar 
programme for Ireland in 2016. The scheme provides exper-
tise, mentoring and support to encourage local communities 
to ‘adopt’ a monument in their area in order to ensure its on-
going maintenance, protection and promotion. This provides 
an innovative way of bringing monuments and local heritage 
from the periphery into the heart of local communities.

The Adopt a Monument Scheme provides people of all ages 
with the opportunity to engage with heritage in a manner 
which empowers and educates participants, whilst promoting 
a sense of ownership and civic pride. 

The scheme began with six communities selected in  2016 and 
after a competitive open process in early 2017 seven new 
community archaeology projects were selected. These are: 

Kilbarron Castle, County Donegal
adopted by the Kilbarron Castle Conservation Group

Mountbellew Walled Garden, County Galway
adopted by the Mountbellew Heritage & Tourism Network

St. Moling’s Millrace, County Carlow 
adopted by St Mullins Amenity & Recreational Tourism Group 

Old St. Peter’s Church, Portlaoise, County Laois 
adopted by Portlaoise Tidy Towns

Earlshill Colliery and Powder House, County Tipperary 
adopted by the Slieveardagh Mining Group

Kilfinane Motte, County Limerick 
adopted by the Kilfinane Community Council

Knockboy Medieval Parish Church  
adopted by the Knockboy Church Conservation Group

Throughout 2017, all of the Adopt a Monument groups re-
ceived training, mentoring, advice and expertise to help 
understand and conserve their monuments. The scheme has 
helped to increase awareness for each monument and has 
put clear tangible structures in place for the ongoing and fu-
ture maintenance, conservation and interpretation of each of 
the monuments.

The scheme has been supported throughout the year by the 
Heritage Council in partnership with Archaeology Scotland 
and has also been supported by the Local Authority Heritage 
Officers and the National Monuments Service.

ADOPT  A 
MONUMENT
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STRATEGIC PRIORITY 3: 
Ensuring a Vibrant Heritage Sector 
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THE HERITAGE IN SCHOOLS SCHEME 

The Heritage in Schools Scheme is a primary school heritage 
education initiative which facilitates visits to primary schools by a 
range of experts on Ireland’s natural, cultural and built heritage 
and is the Heritage Council’s main activity for primary schools. 
Visits are part-funded by the school and the remainder of the 
fee and travel expenses are funded by the Heritage Council. 
The Scheme was launched in 2000 following a successful pilot 
conducted in Dublin/Wicklow and Galway/Clare during the 
previous year. In the early years the Irish National Teach-
ers Organisation (INTO), collaborated with the 
Heritage Council by administering the scheme 
through its Professional Development Unit at 
an annual cost to the Heritage Council. 
Schools were provided with a Heritage 
Experts Directory to facilitate booking 
a full or half day visit by an expert. In 
2003 the scheme began to offer a 
five-visit series, either consecutively 
or spread over the calendar year, at 
a reduced rate. This initiative aimed 
to support deeper, sustained engage-
ment with heritage among participating 
teachers and pupils and to foster relation-
ships between schools and experts. During 
the 2012-2013 academic year the INTO ceased 
to be involved in the administration of the scheme and 
this task has since been undertaken by the Heritage Council. In 
2000 when the scheme was launched a panel of 49 heritage 
experts were recruited and 187 school visits were undertaken. 
Uptake has grown steadily since then with a panel of approx-
imately 160 active members delivering visits to almost 2,000 
schools per year.

Diversity in terms of expertise and geographical spread have 
always been important aspects of the Heritage Expert Panel 
and gaps were evident in the midland counties in particular. 
Further emphasis needed to be placed on built heritage and 
supporting the efforts to promote the historic values of towns. 
A call for new applications to the panel was made mid-August 

through social media pages, the Heritage Council website and 
the Heritage in Schools website. 48 new Heritage Specialists 
were recruited to the panel to target gap areas and to help the 
scheme to reach more schools nationwide.

HERITAGE RESEARCH 

Heritage Maps
HeritageMaps.ie was designed with the interested amateur, 
professional users, academic and educational sectors all iden-

tified as possible core users. In its first year (Aug 
2016-Aug 2017), it has had over 71,000 ses-

sions, with 114,000 unique page views, an 
increase of 544% on the total lifespan of 

the original viewer. It has over 57,000 
users. Twenty-seven percent of these 
are ROI based, almost 25% are US 
users, over 21% are in the UK and 
10.5% are Japanese.

The new viewer, HeritageMaps.
ie,  received high levels of world-

wide attention following its release. 
This is down to a number of factors, 

including new elements being intro-
duced to the viewer. They include external 

and bespoke datasets created specifically for 
the Heritage Council viewer. Our ‘Sheela-na-Gig’ 

map, deployed in April 2017, saw much coverage, going viral, 
following articles and interviews with the Irish Times, Newstalk, 
BBC, Atlas Obscura, the Observer and the Smithsonian Institu-
tion, among much other radio and print interest regionally, na-
tionally and internationally. 

New datasets coming on stream during 2017 include the Irish 
Walled Towns Atlas, the Kilkenny Archaeology Project, Irish 
Stained Glass Revival – An Túr Gloine & Harry Clarke, TII’s Ar-
chaeological Excavation Reports. 

We also launched the Burren Geopark viewer and provided 
live demonstrations of the viewer at an associated conference 
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in November in Ennistymon, Co. Clare. Other data ses were 
updated – such as the Museum Standards Programme for Ire-
land, and the Museums, Collections and Archives, and a new 
guide to the data sets was produced as a result. 

In addition Heritage Maps was awarded €2,868 from the 
Department of Public Expenditure and Reform Open Data En-
gagement Fund to create ‘Make a Connection’ schools com-
petition in 2018. 

SUPPORTING A RANGE OF HERITAGE  ORGANISATIONS 

Irish Landmark Trust 
Irish Landmark is a non-profit organisation which conserves 
interesting and unusual properties that are in need of conser-
vation and gives them new life. Since 1992, the organisation 
has turned more than 29 historic buildings around the country 
into self-catering holiday accommodation. The properties range 
from lighthouses and schoolhouses, to castles and gate lodges.

Almost 6,000 people experienced a stay in an Irish Landmark 
property during 2017. This was an increase of almost 20% on 
2016 figures. These visitors enjoyed a very tangible experience 
of the past. To live in an historic building, even for a short time, 

has the capacity to inspire and offer a sense of beauty and 
peace. The availability at the properties of the history of 

each place and its physical and historical context en-
courages visitors to learn more.  

In addition to making the properties available for 
guests, over 5,000 people visited the properties on 
open days in 2017. During 2017 further work was 
carried out at one of the work-in-progress projects, 
Saunderscourt Triumphal Arch Gate Lodges in Co. 
Wexford.  With funding from Wexford County Coun-
cil it was possible to begin work on the planning per-

mission for the full project.

Another project where there was significant progress in 
2017 was the conservation of two adjoining houses at Eliz-

abeth Fort in Cork. This project is being carried out in part-
nership with Cork City Council, the main funder of the capital 

works.  Planning permission documents were submitted by the 
end of 2017 and it is hoped that the project might get underway 
in 2018.
 
In 2017, under the guidance of Irish Landmark’s new Conserva-
tion Advisor, Duncan McLaren, significant repairs were carried 
out at the Schoolhouse at Annaghmore in Co. Sligo to deal with 
damp issues in the gable wall. 

Woodlands of Ireland  
Woodlands of Ireland (WoI) is a membership organisation 
dedicated to the conservation of native Irish woodlands. The 
organisation’s primary objectives are to generate awareness 
of native woodlands amongst policy makers and the general 
public and to develop projects and sustainable management 
strategies aimed at ensuring the future viability of Ireland’s na-
tive woodlands. These objectives are addressed through the 
implementation of flagship projects, training courses, technical
publications, policy development and the provision of support 
at local level.

In 2017, Woodlands of Ireland continued to implement is work 
programme, including the organisation of a Native Woodland 
Conference, supporting the roll out of the Native Woodland 
Scheme (NWS) under the Forestry Programme 2014-2020 and 
the implementation of key objectives of the Native Woodland 
Strategy 2016–2020.

Native Woodland Scheme – Promotion and Training
In order to showcase what can be achieved under the NWS, 
a national tour of woodlands took place in May 2017. It was 

Works at Schoolhouse funded by BHIS
Courtesy of Mary O’Brien, ILT
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It was attended by landowners, Forest Service and NPWS per-
sonnel, WoI Board and Technical Group members, NWS-ac-
credited ecologists and foresters. Subsequent to the tour, a 
Native Woodland Information Note was drafted with site de-
tails and feedback from participants. This will be included in 
the Native Woodland Technical Information Note Series and 
published in 2018 along with the Deer Information Note on 
Ecology, Behaviour and Management in Native Woodlands 
in 2017 authored by key experts in this area. 

WoI made a submission to the Forest Service, DAFM on the 
Forest Programme mid-term review and met with staff to discuss 
the adoption of a new NWS Afforestation module to create 
new ‘Pioneer woodland’ on marginal, infertile site types and 
the establishment of a public-private (PPI) ‘Forestry Fund’ to top 
up premium payments for NWS afforestation applicants. Both 
measures were adopted subsequently and will be implement-
ed under the Forestry Programme in 2018. In addition, the NWS 
Conservation Management Plan template for the Scheme was 
streamlined in collaboration with Forest Service staff.

With respect to wider forest policy issues, WoI provided tech-
nical information and consulted with the Forest Policy Review 
Group in to assist in achieving the 30% broadleaf afforestation 
targets and to promote sensitive management and mitigation 
measures in commercial forestry. 

In mid-September, WoI and the Forest Service hosted a seed 
collection training course in Kileshandra, Co. Cavan at which 
30 people attended. Subsequently, WoI promoted and un-
dertook acorn collections that went to the forest nurseries to 
produce oak saplings for the NWS; WoI alone collected 
over 100 kgs as 2017 was an exceptionally moist year. WoI is 
also a member of the Forest Service ‘Forest Genetic Resources 
Working Group’ which convened twice in 2017. Issues such as 
Ash Dieback disease, shortages of native tree and shrub nurs-
ery stock for the NWS, availability of tree provenance material 
for indigenous timber production, and the very small number of 
nurseries supplying native stock were highlighted. The purpose 
of all these initiatives is to try and achieve the NWS targets 
outlined in the Forestry Programme 2014-2020.

Fiachra and Lorcan Little gathering acorns in a native wood-
land in October, Deputy’s Pass, Glenealy, Co. Wicklow. 

Courtesy of Declan Little, WOI Project Manager



Wicklow Uplands Council 
Wicklow Uplands Council (WUC) is an independent voluntary 
organisation representing over 50 diverse member groups and 
individuals in the Wicklow Uplands. The Heritage Council is the 
primary core-funder of WUC. This funding allows the employ-
ment of a small number of staff and the development of a num-
ber of projects.

2017 was a busy year for WUC as it continued to engage with 
its members, project partners and the general public in address-
ing some of the challenges faced in the Wicklow uplands. Vol-
untary involvement continued to play an important role in the 
development of projects and policies.

Throughout 2017 much of the work of WUC focused on devel-
oping a proposal for a Sustainable Uplands Agri-environment 
Scheme (SUAS) under the European Innovations Partnership Ini-
tiative (EIP-AGRI).  SUAS is a 5-year pilot project which aims 
to address some of the complex agricultural, ecological and 
socio-economic issues faced by upland farmers. The proposal 
for the SUAS pilot was developed using a bottom-up approach 
with full input from local farmers and upland stakeholders. WUC 
was notified that the proposal successfully made it through a 
very competitive two-stage application process in December 
2017 with the project to be implemented for 5 years from 2018 
with a budget of €1.9m.

In 2017 agreements were secured with landowners and work 
began to develop a new trail from Bray Head to Kilmacanogue 
which will link public transport facilities in Bray with the wider up-
land trail network and will also be an important route in WUC’s 
vision for a long distance off-road walking route linking Bray 
Station to Woodenbridge. WUC continued to administer the 
Protecting Uplands & Rural Environments project (PURE) which  
had removed over 3000 tonnes of illegal dumping and fly-tip-
ping in the Wicklow-Dublin Uplands. The success of the PURE 
project saw it used as the template for the Government’s an-
ti-dumping initiative which was launched in 2017.

Other events in 2017:
• Hosted a very well-attended panel meeting focusing on 

the community-led initiatives in the uplands
• WUC was invited to have a representative on a Sustain-

able Agriculture Commission with the EUROPARC Federa-
tion and attended various meeting in Europe

• Assisted Hollywood Tidy Towns to develop a village pan-
el highlighting points of interest in the village

• Assisted Clara Vale church committee to develop a new 
community garden adjacent to the Avonmore Way

• Hosted a very successful Nature Walk and Talk 
along the Avonmore Way for Heritage Week 2017

• Attended the visit of HRH Prince Charles in Kilkenny at 
the invitation of the Heritage Council

• Organised a litter pick along 10km of the Sally Gap in 
conjunction with the PURE project and the National Spring 
Clean

The Discovery Programme 
The Discovery Programme: Centre for Archaeology and Inno-
vation Ireland receives its core funding from the Heritage Coun-
cil. Its mission is to explore Ireland’s past and its cultural 
heritage by conducting advanced research in Irish 
archaeology and related disciplines and by dis-
seminating its findings widely to the global 
community. 

One of the highlights of 2017 was 
the archaeological excavations un-
dertaken at Faughan Hill, County 
Meath as part of the Tara Research 
Project. The excavations were 
funded by the Royal Irish Acad-
emy and directed by Dr Ger 
Dowling. The excavations were 
focused on two large, concen-
tric hilltop enclosures revealed by 
geophysics, with the aim of defin-
ing their nature, extent and dating. 
The results of these excavations will 
be published in 2019. 

In 2017, the Climate, Heritage and En-
vironments of Reefs, Islands and Head-
lands (CHERISH) project hired two research 
archaeologists based within the Discovery pro-
gramme. CHERISH is a four partner multidisciplinary 
project funded by the Ireland-Wales   2014-2020 pro-
gramme. The CHERISH team are working in North Dub-
lin, Wexford, Waterford and Kerry recording sites being 
impacted by coastal erosion and identifying new sites. 

The Discovery Programme survey team were busy 
in 2017 and their work included a precise 
monitoring survey of Skellig Michael, work 
that has been ongoing since 2015. There 
was an extension of these monitor-
ing tasks this year to include the 
hermitage and south peak. 
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Autumn Sunset at Lough Tay 
 Courtesy of WUP



Control networks have been established to allow for the de-
tection of any structural movement down to a millimetre level 
of precision. 

Archaeology 2025: Strategic Pathways for Archaeology 
in Ireland was launched by the Chief State Archaeologist, 
Dr Ann Lynch, for the Department of Arts, Heritage, Region-
al, Rural and Gaeltacht Affairs on behalf of the Royal Irish 
Academy in May 2017. The Project Manager for the strategy 
development was facilitated by the Discovery Programme 
from 2015–2017. 

The communication of our research to the academic commu-
nity and the public continued, events included a series of 

workshops aimed at postgraduate students, and the 
annual Martin Doody Lecture. A short guide to 

the Hill of Tara for visitors to the site was pub-
lished and distributed to tourist offices and 

the Visitor Centre at Tara. The Monastic 
Ireland website was expanded during 

the year and engagement with it and its 
social media channels grew strongly.

SUPPORTING IRELAND’S MUSEUMS

Irish Museums Association 
The Irish Museums Association (IMA) 
is an all-Ireland professional body 
dedicated to the promotion and de-

velopment of museums, the museum 
profession, and standards of excellence 

in museum practice. It promotes profes-
sional practice in museum management, 

collections care and visitor services and pro-
vides a platform for debate on museum ideas 

through events such as conferences, forums, lectures 
and seminars. Funding from the Heritage Council assist-

ed the IMA in presenting an annual calendar of events that 
provide professional development and networking opportu-
nities to the sector. 

The IMA Annual Conference, taking as its theme Cultural 
Tourism and the Contemporary Museum, took place in Gal-
way in March 2017, in association with Galway City Muse-
um. The Museums Basics course was held in Cobh in partner-
ship with Cork County Council through the County Heritage 
Officer, Conor Nelligan and in the Curragh Camp, Kildare, 
in partnership with the Military Archives, Defence Forces Ire-
land. 
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 Courtesy of WUP

Excavations at Faughan Hill, Co. Meath 
Photo Credit, Stephen Kehoe

Volunteers at the Sally Gap Litter Pick, 
Coutresy of  WUC

Sheep in the Wicklow Uplands 
(Cover image for the SUAS proposal, Niall O’Loughlin

Structural Survey of the monastery at Skellig Michael, 
Co. Kerry, Courtesy of the Discovery Programme



In October the IMA and the Ulster University held a 
consultation seminar entitled Bridge Over Brexit: the 
museum sector in post-Brexit Ireland at the MAC Belfast. 
Current developments and the potential implications of 
the exit of the UK from the European Union on the museum 
sector across Ireland were discussed.

On 30 November the IMA joined with ICOM Ireland to 
present the annual James White Lecture. Dr Tristram Hunt, 
Director of the Victoria and Albert Museum, delivered the 
lecture entitled ‘Embracing the Past, Preserving the Future’ 
at the Printworks, Dublin Castle. 

Muesum Standards Programme of Ireland 
The Museum Standards Programme for Ireland (MSPI) 
was established by the Heritage Council to benchmark 
and promote professional standards in the care of 
collections and to recognise through accreditation the 
achievement of those standards within the Irish museum 
sector. The MSPI continued to engage with its participants 
and those considering entry to the programme in 2017. 
There were 57 participants across 60 museum sites in 
the MSPI in 2017. Four new museum sites - Cork Public 
Museum; The Glebe House and Gallery, OPW; IFI The 
Irish Film Archive and Russborough House - began the 
MSPI Accreditation process in February. 

Ireland’s collections are at the heart of the Museum 
Standards Programme supporting and improving the 
quality of heritage management through accreditation 
and its training programme. MSPI continued to deliver 
quality workshops for MSPI Participants and Assessors in 
2017, working with the Institute of Conservator-Restorers 
in Ireland, for example, to deliver collections management
workshops. It also sought to maintain relevance to 
accredited participants by holding a Business Continuity 
& Resilience workshop. MSPI assessors met for a 
workshop to ensure they were kept up-to-date on museum 
governance in Ireland by attending a workshop on the 
new Companies Act 2014. There were over 110 attendees 
at the MSPI training events and workshops in 2017. 

In July the Minister for Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht 
joined MSPI participants and friends at a lunch in Dublin 
Castle to celebrate its 10th Anniversary and present 16 
accreditation certificates. During the ceremony a video, 
using images, testimonials and facts about the Programme 
was presented. A further 6 videos were launched on 
YouTube in December. They describe how various aspects 
of the programme from strategic planning and care of 
collections, to visitor services, exhibition standards and 
training had benefited participating museums. 

ACCREDITATION CERTIFICATES 
AWARDED IN 2017

ATTEND MSPI TRAINING 
EVENTS IN 2017

THE HERITAGE COUNCIL  
HAS AWARDED  

THE MSPI HAS BEEN IN 
EXISTENCE FOR  

10 YRS 

THE MSPI PROGRAMME 
ENGAGES WITH 

58SITES
91

136
SITE VISITS 
 & REPORTS 
SINCE 2007

16
110

ACCREDITATION 

CERTIFICATES 

SITE VISITS 
& REPORTS 
SINCE 2007

YRS OF 
MSPI SITES

10

ACCREDITATIONS 
AWARDED IN 2017

ATTENDED MSPI TRAINING 
EVENTS IN 2017

60 ACCREDITATION

CERTIFICATES 
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Chairman of the Heritage Council, Michael Parsons, speaking at the 
MSPI 10th  Anniversary Celebrations  

Left to Right: Harriet Wheelock, RCPI Keeper of Collection;
Dr Paul Darragh, Dun’s Librarian, RCPI; Leah O’Toole, Head of 

Corporate Affairs, RCPI and Prof Mary Horgan, President Designate, RCPI who 
accepted the Interim Accreditation certificate for the Heritage Centre, Royal 

College of Physicians of Ireland

Left to Right: Jemma O’Connell; Helen O’Carroll; Minister for Arts, Heritage and the Gaelthact,
 Heather Humphreys and  Sarah O’Farrell with Kerry County Museum’s 

Maintenance of Full Accreditation certificate
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Louth County Council
Brendan McSherry
042 932 4109/ 086 601 3839

Meath County Council
Dr. Loreto Guinan
046 909 7507 / 909 7000
lguinan@meathcoco.iebrendan.mcsherry@louthcoco.ie

Fingal County Council
Dr. Gerry Clabby
01 890 5697/ 890 5000
Gerry.clabby@fingal.ie

Dublin City Council
Charles Duggan
01 222 2856 / 222 3090
charles.duggan@dublincity.ie

South County Dublin 
County Council
Dr. Rosaleen Dwyer
01 414 9222 / 414 9000
rdwyer@sdublincoco.ie

Kildare County Council
Bridget Loughlin
045 980 791 / 980 200
bloughlin@kildarecoco.ie

Wicklow County Council
Deirdre Burns
0404 20100
dburns@wicklowcoco.ie

Kilkenny County Council
Dearbhala Ledwidge
056 779 4925
dearbhala.ledwidge@kilkennycoco.ie 

Tipperary County Council
Roisin O'Grady
0761 06 5173
roisin.ogrady@tipperarycoco.ie

Waterford County Council
Bernadette Guest
051 849 668 / 058 20839
bguest@waterfordcoco.ie

Cork City Council
Niamh Twomey
021 492 4018
niamh_twomey@corkcity.ie

Cork County Council
Conor Nelligan
021 428 5905
conor.nelligan@corkcoco.ie

Kerry County Council
T.J. Mahony 
066 7183500 
heritage@Kerrycoco.ie

Limerick County Council
Tom O'Neill
061 407229
thomas.oneill@limerick.ie

Clare County Council
Congella McGuire
065 684 6408 / 682 1616
cmcguire@clarecoco.ie

Galway County Council
Marie Mannion
091 509 000 Ext. 198 / 509 198
mmannion@galwaycoco.ie

Galway City Council
Jim Higgins
091 526 574
jim.higgins@galwaycity.ie

Westmeath County Council
Melanie McQuade
044 9332098
Melanie.mcquade@westmeathcoco.ie

Offaly County Council
Amanda Pedlow
057 934 6839 / 934 6800
heritage@offalycoco.ie

Mayo County Council
Deirdre Cunningham
094 904 7684
dcunningham@mayococo.ie

Roscommon County Council
Nollaig Feeney
090 663 7100 / 663 7135
nfeeney@roscommoncoco.ie

Longford County Council
Mairead Ní Chonghaile
043 334 0731 / 334 1124
mnichonghaile@longfordcoco.ie

Sligo County Council
Siobhán Ryan
071 911 4482 / 9111 111
heritage@sligococo.ie

Cavan County Council
Anne Marie Ward
049 437 8614
amcurley@cavancoco.ie

Donegal County Council
Dr. Joe Gallagher
074 917 2576
j.gallagher@donegalcoco.ie

Monaghan County Council
Shirley Clerkin
047 73722
shclerkin@monaghancoco.ie

Laois County Council
Catherine Casey
057 866 4129
ccasey@laoiscoco.ie

THE HERITAGE OFFICER NETWORK 

Twenty-seven County Heritage Officers are employed in 
County and City Councils in a joint venture between the 
Heritage Council and local authorities. Heritage Officers 
work to promote the value of our wildlife, buildings, archae-
ology and landscapes in local communities and within lo-
cal authority areas. The Heritage Council provides financial, 
technical, training, development and networking support for 
County Heritage Officers. A subvention of 25% towards sal-
ary costs is paid by the Heritage Council to Local Authorities 
who participate in the County Heritage Officer Programme.

County Heritage Officers establish County Heritage Fora 
which are working committees of heritage stakeholders who 

advise and input into the preparation and implementation of 
County Heritage Plans. The Heritage Council provides finan-
cial assistance of 75% for the implementation of an agreed 
number of County Heritage Plan projects on an annual basis.

The Heritage Council advocates for both an enhanced Coun-
ty Heritage Officer and broader heritage service at county 
level. The Heritage Council favours the establishment of a 
comprehensive County Heritage Service providing Local 
Authorities with an enhanced level of heritage expertise and 
capacity through the employment of a full cohort of County 
Heritage Officers, Assistant Heritage Officers, County Bio-
diversity Officers, County Archaeologists, County Archivists, 
County Curators and Conservation Officers. 
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Here is just some of the work done in 2017 by Heritage Of-
ficers across Ireland with the support of the Heritage Council 
County Heritage Plan Grants. 

Cavan County Council Heritage Office: 
Heritage Officer: Anne Marie Ward

2017 was a busy year for heritage in Cavan. It saw the estab-
lishment, for example of the Historic Graveyard Network. Oth-
er important highlights of the year included the Cavan Golden 
Way Ecclesiastical Trail (Feasibility Study) Creative Ireland, 
the Heritage, Art and Geopark Project- Ancient and Wild and 
the performance of the Lassus Scholars Choir at the Heritage 
Week opening event. The Scealta dar d’Talun Cavan Walking 
Festival also took place in 2017. 

Clare County Council Heritage Office: 
Heritage Officer: Congella McGuire

The County Clare Heritage Plan 2017-2023 was endorsed by 
the elected members at the December County Council meet-
ing. It focuses on a number of identified actions to be imple-
mented under the themes of community, training and education, 
sustainable tourism, built heritage, cultural heritage, biodiversity, 
climate change and green infrastructure planning. 

Implementation of Clare County Heritage Plan Projects: 
Funding of €33,000 was approved from the Heritage Council 
for heritage projects in 2017. These projects were 1. Bird Survey 
Data on the Shannon-Fergus Estuary, 2. Preparation of an Ennis 
Town Public Realm Plan and 3. Heritage Films on ‘Stories from 
the Landscape’.

The first season of the Bird Survey of the Shannon-Fergus Estu-
ary, took place and preliminary results have recorded a total 
46 water bird species. There will be eleven surveys in total, 
which will take place monthly until April 2018 taking in the 
spring passage period at a time of peak spring migration of 
some species, including black-tailed godwit and whimbrel. 

Funding from the Heritage Council supported three heritage 
films on Clare’s unique heritage. The films featured aspects of 

heritage in Clare including Loophead Wetlands – Citizen Sci-
ence Project;  the development of the Kilkishen Cultural Centre; 
and the work of Cuimhneamh an Chláir – memories of Clare 
oral heritage network.

Two public realm projects in Ennis were funded by the Heri-
tage Council. The first project is for the enhancement of Barrack 
Street and Barrack Square and the second is for the revitalisa-
tion of the network of the town centre Bows and Laneways in 
Ennis. Public consultation was key to these projects. 

Cork County Council Heritage Office: 
Heritage Officer: Conor Nelligan

2017 was a very successful year for the County’s heritage, with 
Cork County Council receiving the 2017 award for best Local 
Authority Heritage Service. Another wonderful accolade was 
a citation of excellence at the 2017 Chambers Ireland Excel-
lence in Local Government Awards for the Council’s involve-
ment in historical commemorations. 

2017 saw over 350 heritage related events promoted by Cork 
County Council’s Heritage Unit, including the most successful 
Heritage Week yet and very well-attended commemorations 
of the sesquicentennial of the Fenian Rising, Manchester Mar-
tyrs, and the centenary of the arrival of the US Naval Service to 
Cork’s shores. 2017 saw significant investment in all aspects of 
heritage within the County. 

Ten projects within County Cork benefited under the Heritage 
Council Grant Scheme with Bandon, Buttevant and Youghal 
also receiving substantial monies under the Irish Walled Town 
Network Grant Scheme. The County also benefited under the 
Structures at Risk Scheme and close to 20 projects across the 
County were supported under the Built Heritage Investment 
Scheme. The Heritage Council as always has been most sup-
portive of Heritage endeavours in County Cork and in 2017 
supported the heritage Castles of County Cork publication; a 
heritage plan for Lonehort Battery on Bere Island and content/
photographic development for Cork County Council’s Heri-
tage Website.
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Cork County Council Heritage Unit being awarded Best Local 
Authority Heritage Service 2017, Courtesy of Conor Nelligan

Launch of Clare Heritage Plan 2017-2023
Courtesy of Congella McGuire

Heritage Week, Foraging along Templeport Golden Way 
Courtesy of Ann Marie Ward

Scealta dar d’Talun, Heritage Week, Cavan
Courtesy of Ann Marie Ward

Commemorating the US Naval Service in Cork 
Courtesy of Connor Nelligan 

Launch of Ancient and Wild Exhibition by Minister Heather Humphries
Courtesy of Ann Marie Ward
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Donegal County Council Heritage Office 
Heritage Officer: Joseph Gallagher

The County Donegal Heritage Office raises awareness, pro-
vides advice, collects data and promotes best practice in rela-
tion to County Donegal’s heritage, and implements the County 
Donegal Heritage Plan in partnership with the County Heri-
tage Forum (www.donegalcoco.ie/heritage).  

Over 120 people attended the ‘Conservation without Frontiers’ 
Cross-Border Built Heritage Summer School in June organised 
by the Ulster Architectural Heritage Society and the Irish Geor-
gian Society in association with Donegal County Council, Der-
ry City & Strabane District Council and The Heritage Council.  
The Heritage Office in association with other cultural services 
curated and produced the ‘In Search of the Donegal Vernacu-
lar Cottage’ exhibition that highlighted the distinctive forms and 
features of County Donegal’s traditional dwellings. 

A study of lime kilns, a booklet on the 1930s Schools’ Manu-
script Collection in UCD and an oral history training workshop 
were undertaken.  Heritage Week was a tremendous success 
again with over 124 events organised and the popular Heri-
tage Week Event Guide produced. The annual local authority 
‘Tidy Towns’ Pollinator Award was co-sponsored and Buncra-
na Tidy Towns was a regional award winner. The Heritage 
Office co-organised ‘Creative Habitats’ workshops, launched 
the ‘Heritage & Habitat’ Teachers’ Guide and oversaw the 
conservation a traditional wooden and súgán chair.

Galway County Council Heritage Office 
Heritage Officer: Marie Mannion

The 2017 heritage highlights in County Galway included:  
Audit of the Ecclesiastical Heritage of the Oranmore-Athenry 
Municipal Area• Geological Heritage Audit Phase 1• ‘Go 
Wild’ Summer Camps • Stories from the landscape•Com-
munity Archaeologist Project • Biodiversity / People and 
Nature Project •Athenry Walled Towns Day•Athenry & 
Loughrea Walled Towns Educational Project•Loughrea Me-
dieval Festival•ICAN: Community Heritage website Decade 

of Commemoration Events•Féile na gClogh, Inis Oírr •Gal-
way Gastronomy Heritage Project:

Kildare County Council Heritage Office 
Heritage Officer: Bridget Loughlin

Animating the Pollinator Plan: Kildare County Council, in con-
junction with Wicklow County Council and the National Bio-
diversity Data Centre, developed an animation which seeks to 
promote the All-Ireland Pollinator Plan.  Funding was secured 
through Creative Ireland. 

Kildare Biodiversity Week 2017: Over 28 events were or-
ganised with 950 participants. The week is run in conjunction 
with Kildare Library Service, local Natural Heritage groups, 
NUI Maynooth and Tidy Towns groups.

Community Heritage Grant Scheme: Kildare County Council 
implements a Community Heritage Grants Scheme which in 
2017 supported the work of 58 heritage groups in the care, 
conservation and promotion of heritage in County Kildare. 

Audit of memorials, plaques and signs: Phase II of the audit 
of memorials and plaques in the county was undertaken which 
surveyed, recorded and photographed  the  plaques, memori-
als  and heritage signs located throughout the county.

Kildare Town Medieval Festival: The Annual Medieval Fes-
tival was organised by Kildare Walled Town group, Kildare 
Tourisim group, Kildare Local History group, Tidy Towns and 
business owners in the town. Over 5,500 people attended on 
a wet and rainy Sunday.  

Turas Columbanus: A number of local authorities  (Ireland 
and Northern Ireland) have come together to form the Turas 
Columbanus Steering Group with a view to developing a long 
distance pilgrimage route based on the journey St Columba-
nus from Ireland to Europe terminating in Bobbio (Italy). The 
project ties together known sites associated with St Columba-
nus in Ireland and Europe into a European Cultural Route.

Galway Gastronomic Heritage Day, 
Courtesty of Marie Mannion 

Thatch demonstration in Co. Kildare during Heritage Week 2017, 
Courtesty of Bridget Loughlin 
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loughrea Medieval festival 

Stories from the landscape Frank Glynn, 
Courtesy of Marie Mannion 

Ecologist Éanna Ní Lamhna explores a forest habitat with primary school-
children and teachers as part of the ‘Creative Habitats’ workshops during 

Wainfest organised by the County Donegal Heritage Office and Donegal 
County Library Service. Courtesy of Joseph Gallagher,

A Lime kiln in Tully near Dungloe, County Donegal.  The County Done-
gal Heritage Office commissioned a study of lime kilns as part of the 

implementation of the County Donegal Heritage Plan in 2017. 
Courtesy of Joseph Gallagher

Loughrea Walled  Town Day 2017, 
Courtesy of Marie Mannion 

Feature of the Kildare Town Medieval Festival  
Courtesy of Bridget Loughlin

Photo credit: Paul McGuckin
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The Keep Gate at Birr castle, painted by Rachel McKenna and featured in her book ‘Flights of Fancy’ 
published by Offaly County Council in 2017
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Kilkenny County Council Heritage Office 
Heritage Officer: Dearbhala Ledwidge

Film Launch: ‘Naming Ground’, a new short film inspired by 
the Kilkenny Field Names Project, was commissioned by the 
Heritage Office, with funding from Creative Ireland.  The film 
is a celebration of local heritage and the relationship between 
people and place, language and landscape, in the Inistioge 
and Clonamery area. It was launched in December in Inis-
tioge. The film is part of the on-going Kilkenny County Council 
Field Names Project, supported by the Heritage Council, which 
trains and supports volunteers to record and map fieldnames in 
Co. Kilkenny. 
http://kilkennyheritage.ie/2017/08/kilkenny-field-name-record-
ing-project-2/

Heritage Week 2017 was a great success in Co. Kilkenny 
where 98 events took place between 19th and 26th Aug.  780 
people organised events including community groups, histori-
cal societies, Kilkenny County Council, the OPW and Kilkenny 
Civic Trust. The Heritage Office partnered with St. Lachtain’s 
Select Vestry, Co. Kilkenny Childcare Committee, Kilkenny Ed-
ucation Centre, Woodstock Gardens, Thomastown Community 
Network, St. Pauls Piltown,  Barrowvale Local History Group 
and Conahy Heritage Society to host and/or support events 
including Kids Heritage Trail Freshford, Wild Child Day film 
event, Forest School, River Walk, heritage exhibitions, videos 
and open days. 

Moments with Monuments: The Heritage Office and KCLR, 
funded by the Broadcasting Authority of Ireland’s Sound and 
Vision Scheme and Kilkenny County Council Heritage Office, 
developed a weekly radio series ‘Moments with Monuments’ 
which highlighted the stories behind 50 plaques, memorials 
and signs in County Kilkenny. The programmes were broad-
cast every Wednesday on KCLR’s ‘The Way It Is’  and featured 
some of the 300 plaques, memorials and signs identified in an 
audit undertaken in 2015 by Kilkenny County Council Heritage 
Office, with support from the Heritage Council. According to 
KCLR presenter Sue Nunn, ‘of all features this is the one that 
gets most comment from all ages’. 
http://kilkennyheritage.ie/2017/01/kilkenny-monuments-and-
plaques-monuments-and-plaques/ 

Laois County Council Heritage Office: 
Heritage Officer: Catherine Casey

Pollinators: To raise awareness of pollinators in Laois, a piece 
of music was commissioned and written in association with 
communities in the county. The piece by Ian Wilson was pre-
miered during the Leaves Festival in Emo Court in November, 
with the performance by saxophonist Cathal Roche accompa-

nying the recorded score of the voices of Laois people and 
natural sounds of the county. As part of this event a Pollinator 
Poetry Prize was unveiled, with entries and readings from adults 
and children nationally.

Practical Conservation Projects in Laois
Masonry conservation, restoration of wrought iron gates and 
management of vegetation at Old St Peter’s Graveyard in Port-
laoise.

The one-room schoolhouse at Ballyroan was conserved, and 
funding sourced for construction of an extension with services 
and a new entrance, making the schoolhouse accessible to all.
A measured survey was carried out of Fort Protector in Portlao-
ise and an archaeological research dig investigated the fort 
wall.

Conservation of Killabban medieval church was organised 
with the local community and the Heritage Council, part of a 
multi-year project. 

Connecting Communities with Heritage: 
Mapping Laois – Research continued on the new book on the 
historic maps of Laois, which will be published in 2018. Com-
memoration of events and people of World War I, including 
Victoria Cross winner Jack Moyney. Laois-born Railway Engi-
neer William Dargan was commemorated in Portlaoise.

Louth County Council Heritage Office: 
Heritage Officer: Brendan McSherry

The closing of the 13th-century barbican, known as Laurence’s 
Gate, in Drogheda, to vehicular traffic on the day before Heri-
tage Week began, meant that Heritage Week was the first time 
it had been closed to vehicles and open to people. ‘Music at 
the Gate’ has been performed there on a monthly basis since 
then. We’ve also had musical performances in Drogheda’s Old 
Abbey for ‘Culture Night’ and for carols at Christmas.

Limerick City and County Council Heritage Office: 
Heritage Officer: Tom O’Neill  

The highlight in Limerick in 2017 was the launch of the Limerick 
City and County Heritage Plan 2017 - 2030. It was launched 
by Dr Patrick Wallace, former Director of the National Museum 
and a native of Askeaton, Co. Limerick.

Another heritage highlight in Limerick was the art competition 
for young people on the topic of Limerick’s built, natural and 
cultural heritage. 2017 also saw the the relocation of Limerick 
City Museum - the oldest local authority museum in Ireland - to 
the former Franciscan Friary in the heart of Limerick city centre.
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loughrea Medieval festival 

At the launch of the film ‘Naming Ground’ in Kilkenny were: Director of 
Services Mary Mullholland, Cllr. Michael Doyle, Alan Counihan, Jack 

Knox, Shane Hatton, Carmel Cummins, Dearbhala Ledwidge, Nora 
Brennan, Cllr. Fidelis Doherty. Courtesy of Dearbhala Ledwidge

Michael Jacob ecologist with young bee-lovers at the Pollinator Party in 
Portlaoise Park, Heritage Week 2017

Courtesy of Catherine Casey

Saxophonist Cathal Roche performs the premiere of a new musical piece in celebration of pollinators at 
Emo Court, Co. Laois on Sunday 12 Nov during the Leaves Festival . Courtesy of Catherine Casey

Photo Credit: Michael Scully

Monaghan Heritage Officer, Shirley Clerkin at Drum, Portrait of a Village,
Courtesy of Shirley Clerkin

Musical performance in Drogheda’s Old Abbey for Culture Night 2017
Courtesy of Brendan McSherry 
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Monaghan County Council Heritage Office: 
Heritage Officer: Shirley Clerkin

The Gothic Monaghan film documentary was launched at the 
opening night of the Clones Film Festival. By filmmaker Dara 
McCluskey, and presented by Kevin V. Mulligan and Shirley 
Clerkin, the film illustrates the story of gothic architecture in 
Monaghan. Shot on location at sites across the county it ex-
plores many lesser known heritage buildings and graveyards. 
It was also shown at the Garage Film Festival. 

A significant cultural collaborative initiative in Drum village be-
tween the local community, Drum Heritage Group, the Gallery 
of Photography and the arts and heritage offices of Monaghan 
County Council made a real impact in Dublin, Monaghan and 
Drum. Drum – Portrait of a Village, engaged with local peo-
ple to scan and record their old family album photographs, to 
bring Krass Clements’ work DRUM back to Anderson’s pub 
where it was made in 1991, to run workshops and historical 
talks in the village and to commission a photographer to take 
new portraits of the village and its people to create a record of 
authentic representation.

Offaly County Council Heritage Office: 
Heritage Officer: Amanda Pedlow

Offaly highlights of 2017 were the development of the county 
archive service with Offaly Historical Society and the library 
service; publication of Flights of Fancy, exploring landscape 
demesnes in Offaly, written by county architect Rachel McK-
enna and published by Offaly County Council; celebrating the 
19th century scientist Mary Ward with artists Caroline Clancy 
and Tina Claffey; promoting the All-Ireland Pollinator Plan and 
Geashill winning the national Local Authority Pollinator Tidy 
Towns award; and the discovery of a very important vernacu-

lar farm house near Five Alley which evolved into a significant 
project with the owners and Dr Clauda Kinmonth.  All of these 
projects were highlighted at the Annual Offaly Heritage Sem-
inar in November.

Roscommon  County Council Heritage Office 
Heritage Officer: Nollaig Feeney

The Táin March set out from Rathcroghan Mound on 19th May. 
The march was met by over 100 school children from 8 prima-
ry schools on Rathcroghan Mound and in Rathcroghan Visitor 
Centre who read praise poems for Queen Medb and  saw 
her army off on great style. 9 schools workshops took place to 
facilitate the project. This is all aimed to support  raising aware-
ness of Rathcroghan Royal Site

Tipperary County Council Heritage Office 
Heritage Officer: Róisín O’Grady

Among the heritage higlights in County Tipperary in 2017 was 
the joint launch of the Tipperary Heritage Plan 2017-2021, 
and the Tipperary Arts Strategy at the Source in Thurles. The 
Knowledge Exchange visit of the Interreg Europe SWARE (sus-
tainable heritage management of waterways regions) to view 
projects and initiatives on the River Suir and Lough Derg and to 
meet some of our natural heritage stakeholders and partners. 
Our Family Wildlife Discovery Day with Birdwatch Ireland 
at the Cabragh Wetlands. Crinniu na Casca in Templemore 
Town park and the subsequent collaborations under Creative 
Ireland programme. The National Famine Commemoration 
which took place at the Famine Warhouse 1848 in Ballingar-
ry and the community programme including the Famine Land-
scape project with local schools. Training across a number of 
issues for staff and community groups including pollinators, in-
vasive species and maintenance of properties.

SWARE partners including partners from South Holland, Milan, 
Slovakia and Latvia.

Courtesy  of Roisin O’Grady 
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Táin March at Rathcroghan, Co. Roscommon, 2017 
Courtesy of Nollaig Feeney

The Taoiseach and Minister Heather Humphreys 
officiated at National Famine Commemoration Cer-
emony at the Famine  Warhouse 1848 Ballingarry, 
Co. Tipperary. Photo Credit: Maxwells 
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The aim of the seminar is to:
• Report on progress delivering the 4th Offaly Heritage Plan 2017 – 2021
• To provide an opportunity for people interested in heritage to meet

Friday 17th & Saturday 18th November 2017
Birr Theatre & Arts Centre

Heritage Office, Offaly County Council, Áras an Chontae, Charleville Road, 
Tullamore, Co. Offaly • Ph: 057 9346839 • E: heritage@offalycoco.ie • www.offaly.ie/heritage

Offaly County Council
Comhairle Chontae Uíbh Fhailí

HERITAGE
SEMINAR
A N N U A L O F FA LY

SATURDAY 18TH NOVEMBER
MORNING BOOK YOUR SITE VISIT TO 
11.00am Tour of Hynes / Egan Carrigeen Farmhouse 

at Five Alley with Dr Claudia Kinmonth 
(limited to 15 places).  

OR
11.00am Follies of Birr Demesne Tour led by Rachel McKenna,

architect with Offaly County Council and Alicia
Clements of Birr Demesne. Meet at Visitor Centre. 

12.30 to 1pm Light Lunch at Birr Castle Coffee Shop
AFTERNOON SEMINAR IN BIRR THEATRE & ARTS CENTRE
2.00pm Welcome from Cllr Liam Quinn, 

Cathaoirleach of Offaly County Council. 
2.10pm Offaly Heritage Plan 2017 – 2021 Update on 

2017 projects in Offaly by Amanda Pedlow,
Heritage Officer  

2.30pm Carrigeen Thatched Farmhouse:
the context, contents and conservation 
of a sleeping beauty by Dr Claudia Kinmonth.

3.15pm Tea / Coffee.
3.45pm Swifts in Offaly – Brian Caffrey of 

BirdWatch Ireland will report on the 
2017 county wide survey.

4.15pm Mary Ward’s Amazing World of Wonder
A Creative Ireland community project directed 
by Caroline Conway and Tina Claffey.

5pm Close of seminar.

There is no charge for the seminar. 
Please email the heritage office on heritage@offalycoco.ie or call 
057 9346839 to say which sessions you would like to attend for tours,
seating and catering.

FRIDAY 17TH NOVEMBER
6.45pm for 7pm
Launch of Flights of Fancy, Follies,
families and Demesnes in Offaly 
by Rachel McKenna, 
published by Offaly County 
Council. Hosted by Birr Castle. 
Book with heritage@offalycoco.ie 
or call 057 9346839
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Heritage Officer, Roisin O’Grady; Cllr .Siobhan Ambrose and Chairman of Tipperary 
Heritage Forum Cllr. Roger Kennedy at the launch of Heritage Plan with Cloughjordan 

Circus Club. Courtesy of Roisin O’Grady Courtesy of Amanda Pedlow



Waterford City & County Council Heritage Office: 
Heritage Officer: Bernadette Guest

The Waterford Heritage Plan 2017-2022 was adopted in 
February 2017 and soon afterwards A Habitat Study of Kilma-
cleague Wetlands was  carried out by Birdwatch Ireland. Also 
from the point of view of natural heritage, Malone O’Regan 
and Conservation Services completed a comprehensive eco-
logical survey of the St. John’s River  from source to Suir to inform 
environmental improvement plan for river.

Adopt a Monument Scheme: Work  commenced on conser-
vation works at Knockboy Medieval Parish Church. Vegetation  
was  removed from both  gables and stone masonry works will 
be carried out in 2018 to ensure stability of the structure. The 
church was selected by The Heritage Council as one of the 7 
finalists in the 2017 Adopt a Monument Scheme. Waterford 

has been the successful beneficiary of mentoring for three proj-
ects under the Adopt a Monument Scheme. These are Gallows 
Hill Motte Dungarvan, Roundhill Motte Lismore and Knockboy 
Church.

2017 also saw the launch of Stop Look and Listen- Traditional 
Songs of the Waterford Greenway which took place in Kilmac-
thomas School in June 2017.  The project was curated by com-
munity artist Michael Fortune and is part of an ongoing Heri-
tage Activation Strategy for the Waterford Greenway. https://
www.facebook.com/StopLookListenWaterford 

The centenary of the loss of steamships SS Formby and SS 
Coningbeg took place in December 15th-16th 2017. The 
commemorative event was attended by 200 people http://
www.decadeofcentenaries.com/15-16-december-2017-ss-form-
by-ss-coningbeg-centenary-commemoration-waterford-city/

Knockboy Medieval Parish Church 
Courtesy of Bernadette Guest. Photo Credit Alberta Heritage 

Waterford Viking Heritage Day at Woodstown on 
the Greenway. Courtesy of Bernadette Guest

Left to Right; Cllr. Jason Murphy, Bernadette Guest- Heritage officer, Joanne Rothwell- 
Archivist, Ray McGrath- Gaultier Historical Society and Cllr. Eddie Mulligan

 Courtesy of Bernadette Guest

Members of the Waterford Commemoration Committee at the Centenary Commemoration of the loss of the SS 
Formby and SS Coningbeg on December 16th 2017 
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Westmeath County Council Heritage Office: 
Heritage Officer: Melanie McQuade

One of the heritage highlights in Westmeath in 2017 was the 
appointment of a Heritage Officer in June, following 10 years 
when the county did not have a dedicated officer in post. A 
new Heritage Forum was established and the process of pre-
paring a new Heritage Plan for Westmeath commenced in 
November 2017. A series of public consultation meetings were 
held. 

During Heritage Week a full programme of events - 50 in total 
- took place across the county. One of these events was the 
launch of a learning resource for primary schools 3rd – 6th 
classes ‘Discover and Learn Workbook on Habitats in West-
meath’. This was produced as an action of the Westmeath Bio-
diversity Action Plan 2014 – 2020 and was made available 
free of charge to primary schools across the county. As an ac-
tion of the Biodiversity Action Plan a series of information signs
were erected at six of the most important lakes for nature con-
servation in the county. 

As an action of the Heritage Plan (2010-2015) a laser survey of 
Bealin High Cross (National Monument), was carried out by 
Digital Heritage Age. A 3D interactive model was produced 
and has been made available on the Council website
http://www.westmeathcoco.ie/en/ourservices/planning/conser-
vationheritage/heritageresources/ 

Wicklow County Council Heritage Office: 
Heritage Officer: Deirdre Burns

The review process for the County Wicklow Heritage Plan took 
place in 2017, following a consultation period, public work-
shops and meetings, the plan was adopted by the elected 
members in November. The Heritage Office organised two 
public seminars on the themes of Community Archaeology 
(May 17th), and ‘Making Local History’ (Nov 4th).  The semi-
nars were an excellent opportunity to showcase relevant proj-
ects and to share ideas. 

The Glendalough Community Archaeology Project took place 
once more in 2017 and was extended to include a month-long 
programme for August. Activity included; a two-week volunteer 
excavation supervised by  UCD; a one-day volunteer excava-
tion for teenagers;  a  two-week UCD field school excavation 
with daily public guided tours during Heritage Week; a  Grave-
yard Trail map and tours given by local guides; A ‘Big Dig’ 
event for kids and a ‘Food & Resources’ event for families. The 
Heritage Officer participated in the Wicklow Creative team to 
co-ordinate the development of a five-year county plan as part 
of the Creative Ireland (CI) initiative. A short animation on the 
theme of Pollinators was produced in association with Kildare 
County Council and the National Biodiversity Centre. A short 
film was produced on Heritage Week 2017 in Wicklow and 
will be used for promotion in 2018.

Heritage Week 2017 in Glendalough, 
Courtesy of Deirdre Burns 
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BATS IN THE BYRE
By Anna Meenan 

The GLAS traditional farm buildings grant 
scheme is run by the Heritage Council in 
partnership with the  Department of Agri-
culture, Food and the Marine. The recip-
ients of this funding work to conserve tra-
ditional farm buildings and walls, which 
are not only beautiful aspects of our land-
scape and useful to agriculture, but are 
also home to wildlife. While just about ev-
ery traditional farm building will serve as 
a home to the swallow, many bat roosts 
- previously unknown - were also discov-
ered in 2017. These included a substantial 
roost of Leislers and Soprano Pippistrelle 
bats roosting in a stone wall in Tipperary.  
And let us not forget that favourite of farm-
er’s friends, the barn owl….

In October of this year Ian Satchwell, who 
along with his parents David and Violet 
farm a dry-stock farm near Creggs in Co. 
Galway, contacted the Heritage Council 
to let us know that barn owls were roost-

ing in the byre that had been grant-aided 
in 2013 under the REPS4 Traditional Farm 
Buildings Grant Scheme.  
 
The farm has been in the Satchwell family 
for four generations. It is a very interest-
ing complex of farm house with a large 
number of farm buildings, including a wa-
termill, all dating from the mid-nineteenth 
century. The entire farm is a rare intact 
survival, a landmark in farm development 
and is an important site. The byre, which 
was grant-aided in 2013, is of the Scotch 
type, unusual in Ireland (the buildings 
were apparently built by a firm of Scottish 
contractors). Its roof features three par-
allel ‘A’ pitched roofs with internal valley 
gutters between. The roofs are supported 
on King Post trusses and incorporate a 
boarded ‘ceiling’, a rare find indeed in a 
farm building.
                 
The byre is used for sheep, lambing and 
calving and the storage of farm machin-
ery. The Satchwells have made an enor-
mous effort to keep it, and the other tra-
ditional farm buildings on their farm, well 
maintained over the years. 

A modest grant was offered as that was all 
that was needed to keep this well-main-
tained building weathertight and useful. 
Soprano Pipistrelle Bats and Brown Long 
Eared Bats were discovered roosting in 
the byre when a wildlife survey was car-
ried out in 2013 as part of the grant-aid 
process. And swallows were nesting too 
of course - all living in harmony with the 
sheep, lambs, calves and people who 
use this building daily. Now barn owls 
can be added to this happy mix. 

Since the grant, the Satchwells had in-
stalled a homemade barn owl box in the 
byre to encourage owls. It is being used 
by a breeding pair of barn owls and 
when Ian contacted us to let us know this 
exciting news, they had two chicks who 
were almost ready ‘to fly the coop’. 

There have been less than five definitive 
findings of barn owls roosting in out-
buildings since the scheme started un-
der REPS4 in 2009. The barn owl is a 
red-listed bird of conservation concern in 
Ireland due to a decline of over 50% in 
its population over the past 25 years. Ac-
cording to Birdwatch Ireland’s Barn Owl 
Research project, the reasons for decline 
are not fully understood, but can most 
likely be attributed to the loss of suitable 
habitat due to various aspects of agricul-
tural intensification and the increased use 
of harmful second-generation anti-coag-
ulant rodenticides. Other contributing fac-
tors to their decline are the loss of suitable 
nest sites; an expansion of major road 
networks; and the increased severity of 
winters. 

We are delighted that a pair of barn owls 
have found a cosy home in the Satchwells 
byre. We know that the works they have 
carried out and continue to carry out 
have helped bring this about.   
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MSPI 
CELEBRATES ITS 
10TH BIRTHDAY
By Lesley-Ann Hayden
On a beautiful sunny day in July the 
Minister for Arts, Culture and the Gae-
tacht, Heather Humphries TD, joined 
the Heritage Council, participants in 

the Museum Standards Programme 
for Ireland (MSPI), stakeholders and 
friends to celebrate the Programme’s 
10th anniversary and to award a re-
cord number of accreditation certifi-
cates.  

The event, held with the support of the 
Department in Dublin Castle’s Confer-
ence Centre, brought together museum 
workers, professional and volunteer, 
from all over Ireland, responsible for 
collections of all types imaginable 

including: medical, literary, archaeo-
logical, ‘the big house’, libraries and 
archives, Irish and international works 
of art and polar exploration.  

The Heritage Council welcomed par-
ticipants from Killarney, Tralee, Listowel, 
Clonmel, Cork City, Dublin, Drogheda, 
Cavan, and Galway to receive their 
hard-earned certificates – 16 in total.   
Guests included CEO’s and Mayors of 
local authorities, the former head of the 
UK’s accreditation scheme, and friends 

Glasnevin Cemetery Museum| Interim Accreditation

The Little Museum of Dublin | Interim Accreditation Dublin Castle State Apartments, OPW |Full Accreditation

Highlanes Gallery | Full Accreditation

Drogheda Museum Millmount | Maintenance of Full Accreditation

Rathfarnham Castle, OPW | Full Accreditation

Kerry County Museum | Maintenance of Full Accreditation The Glucksman, University College Cork | Maintenance of Full 
Accreditation

Muckross House, Muckross Traditional Farms, Muckross 
House Research Library | Maintenance of Full Accreditation

Tipperary County Museum | Maintenance of Full 
Accreditation

Cavan County Museum | Maintenance of Full 
Accreditation

Galway City Museum | Full Accreditation

Seanchaí - Kerry Writers’ Museum | Interim Accreditation The Heritage Centre, Royal College of Physicians of Ireland | Interim 
Accreditation



from among other participants and the 
Irish museum and conservation sectors.   

The Office of Public Works celebrated 
the success of two of its Historic Prop-
erties ‘at home’, Dublin Castle State 
Apartments and Rathfarnham Castle, 
were both awarded Full Accreditation 
Certificates.  Eithne Verling, Director of 
Galway City Museum, also came to 
Dublin with her team to accept a Full 
Accreditation certificate and recall 
how, as a former Museum and Ar-
chives Officer of the Heritage Council, 
she had realised in the 1990s the need 
to develop a scheme to assist the Irish 
Museum Sector to raise standards and 
confidence in collections care, gover-
nance and visitor services.  

In commenting on the success of the 
Programme the Minister said, ‘At a lo-
cal level great work has been done to 
raise standards across Irish Museums’.    
The Programme took the opportunity 
to reflect on its achievements and a 
video, combining images from MSPI 
participants showing their collections, 
visitors, testimonials and statistics, was 
shown at the ceremony.  It noted that 
the programme had grown from 14 to 

60 sites, and in the last ten years the 
Heritage Council had awarded 91 In-
terim, Full and Maintenance of Accred-
itation certificates.  136 site-visits have 
been conducted with 136 assessment 
reports written.  Among testimonials re-
ceived, MSPI participants said:

‘As a fledgling institution we joined 
MSPI to develop, grow and sustain 
best museum practice possible for our 
collections, exhibitions and public pro-
gramme.’

‘The Programme offers a standard to 
strive for, to achieve and to maintain.  
We also have access to the broader 
museum family, to formal and informal 
learning.’

‘MSPI ensures a more memorable and 
meaningful experience for our visitors.’
‘It raises the awareness of museum 
work; in particular behind the scenes 
work which is often unrecognized.’

‘Accreditation has helped us gain the 
confidence of government bodies, 
funding agencies and donors.’

‘We are now part of the diverse com-

munity of museums and galleries in 
Ireland, with new colleagues and op-
portunities.’

During the awards ceremony MSPI 
participants were also interviewed 
for a further six videos now available 
on You Tube discussing how various 
standards including strategic planning, 
exhibitions, caring for collections, and 
the training offered by the programme, 
had specifically helped their museums. 
A video of last year’s ceremony is also 
available.  

The programme’s 34 standards were 
agreed by the Heritage Council to 
support the nature and scale of eligible 
museums, galleries and collections in 
Ireland.  That it has done and continues 
to do so is shown by the four sites that 
applied and were invited to join the 
programme at the end of 2017.  

In 2018 the volunteer-run National 
Maritime Museum of Ireland, based in 
the Mariner’s Church, Dun Laoghaire, 
Co. Dublin will join the National Muse-
um of Ireland’s Antiquities, Decorative 
Arts and Natural History divisions  in 
starting the accreditation process.  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Heritage Council’s policy is to maintain the highest standards of corporate governance. In line with generally-accepted 
policies and practices. The Council is committed to complying with the relevant provisions of the new Code of Practice for 
the Governance of State Bodies published in 2016. 

The Heritage Council has established an Audit, Risk and Finance Committee, which regularly reviews the system of internal 
control and engages external expertise in the carrying out of its functions, including the internal audit function, as appropriate. 
The Heritage Council is fully tax-compliant and does not engage in ‘offensive’ tax avoidance transactions. 

Prompt Payments 2017 
The Heritage Council is required to comply with the requirements of S.I. No. 580/2012 European Communities (Late 
Payment in Commercial Transactions) Regulations, 2012 and its predecessor, the Prompt Payments of Accounts Act 1997 
(collectively known as the ‘Regulations’). The Council’s standard terms of credit taken, unless otherwise specified in contrac-
tual arrangements, are 30 days from the receipt of invoice. Procedures have been implemented which provide reasonable 
assurance against material non-compliance with the Regulations. While the procedures are designed to ensure compliance 
with the Regulations, they can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance material noncompliance with the 1997 
Act and SI No 580/2012 

A review of all payments made during the years ended December 31st 2017 shows 7 payments totalling €10,230.65 giving 
rise to an interest penalty of €404.68 under the above regulations. 

With effect from July 1st 2011, the Heritage Council was required to comply with government Decisions S29296 of May 
19th 2009 and March 2nd & 8th 2011, in relation to the 15-day prompt payment rule. The disclosures required in the Mem-
orandum of Government (MoG) supporting the above decisions for the period January 1st 2017 to December 31st 2017 
are detailed below:

Number of payments made within 15 days

Number of payments made within 16 days to 30 days

Number of payments made in excess of 30 days

Total payments made in Period TOTAL

2,072,869

109,686

33,890

2,216,445

1790

70

22

1882

95.10

3.72

1.17

100.00

Details Number Percentage (%) of total 
number of payments madeValue (€)  
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND BOARD 
MEMBERS' REPORT 

The Heritage Council was established under the Heritage Act 1995. The functions of the Board are set out in 
section 6 of this Act. The Board is accountable to the Minister for Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht and is 
responsible for ensuring good governance and performs this task by setting strategic objectives and targets and 
taking strategic decisions on all key business issues. The regular day-to-day management, control and direction 
of The Heritage Council are the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the senior management 
team. The CEO and the senior management team must follow the broad strategic direction set by the Board, 
and must ensure that all Board members have a clear understanding of the key activities and decisions related to 
the entity, and of any significant risks likely to arise. The CEO acts as a direct liaison between the Board and the 
management of The Heritage Council.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES 
    
The work and responsibilities of the Board are set out in the Standing Orders and Reserved Functions, which also 
contain the matters specifically reserved for Board decision. Standing items considered by the Board include:
         
- declaration of interests,
- reports from committees,
- financial reports/management accounts and, 
- reserved matters.     
     
Section 3 of the Heritage Act requires the Board of The Heritage Council to keep, in such form as may be approved 
by the Minister for Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht with consent of the Minister for Public Expenditure and 
Reform, all proper and usual accounts of money received and expended by it.
   
In preparing these financial statements, the Board of The Heritage Council is required to:
    
• select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently,
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that it will
       continue in operation, and state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to
       any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements.    
     
The Board is responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose, with reasonable accuracy 
at any time, its financial position and enables it to ensure that the financial statements comply with S.21 of the 
Heritage Act 1995. The maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information on The Heritage 
Council’s website is the responsibility of the Board.

The Board is responsible for approving the annual plan and budget. An evaluation of the performance of The 
Heritage Council by reference to the annual plan and budget was carried out on 12th April 2018.



The Board is also responsible for safeguarding its assets and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Board considers that the financial statements of The Heritage Council give a true and fair view of the financial 
performance and the financial position of The Heritage Council at 31 December 2017.
    

BOARD STRUCTURE     

         

The Board commenced an external Board Effectiveness and Evaluation Review in January 2018 and this was finalised in 
March 2018.

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND BOARD 
MEMBERS’ REPORT contd. 
  

NAME    ROLE     DATE APPOINTED
     

                           

Kieran Coughlan             

Mary Gallagher     

Muiris O'Sullivan    

Brian Walsh    

Sinead Mc Cartan     

Miriam Fitzpatrick    

Marie Bourke    

Ivor Mc Elveen     

Jane Maxwell     

Fionnuala May    

Michael Parsons
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Board Member            

Board Member     

Board Member   

Board Member    

Board Member    

Board Member   

Board Member    

Board Member    

Board Member    

Board Member    

     

                           

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020             

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020   

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020    

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020  

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020   

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020  

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020   

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020    

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020    

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020   

Acting Chair 

Chairman

19th July 2016 - 4th October 2017

5th October 2017 - 5th October 2021



GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND BOARD 
MEMBERS’ REPORT contd.    
  

The Board has established four committees/groups, as follows:     
     
1. Audit, Risk & Finance Committee (ARFC): comprises three Board members and one independent member 
who was appointed on 21st November, 2017. The meetings are also attended by the Chairperson of the Board. 
The role of the ARFC is to support the Board in relation to its responsibilities for issues of risk, control and gover-
nance and associated assurance. The ARFC is independent from the financial management of the organisation. 
In particular the Committee ensures that the internal control systems including audit activities are monitored ac-
tively and independently. The ARFC reports to the Board after each meeting. 
    
The members of the ARFC are: Kieran Coughlan (Chairperson), Jane Maxwell, Mary Gallagher up to 18th 
September 2017, Muiris O Sullivan from 12th October, 2017and Ray Pembroke (external member) from 21st 
November, 2017.     
     
2. The Succession Planning Group: comprises six Board members. The role of the Succession Planning Group 
is: Short term – to secure the appointment of Council’s new Chief Executive by the end of 2018 and Medium 
Term – to develop a comprehensive succession plan for the organisation that takes all variables into account. The 
Succession Committee reports to the Board after each meeting.
     
The members of the Succession Committee are: Michael Parsons (Chairperson), Kieran Coughlan, Miriam 
Fitzpatrick, Muiris O’Sullivan, Ivor McElveen and Brian Walsh. 

3. The Business Advisory Group (BAG): comprises seven Board members.  The role of the BAG is to: Have an 
advisory consultative role into setting the agenda for Board meetings to ensure, for example, the items comply 
with Expenditure and Performance requirements, as an additional layer to the existing role of the Chairman and 
CEO, establish Board members’ expectations for the minimum level of management information (including finan-
cial) required and to review governance, management structure and finance generally. The BAG reports to the 
Board after each meeting. 
    
The members of the BAG are: Kieran Coughlan (Chairperson), Michael Parsons, Mary Gallagher, Miriam 
Fitzpatrick, Muiris O’Sullivan, Ivor McElveen and Marie Bourke.     
    
4. The Strategy Review Group: comprises nine Board members. The role of the Strategy Review Group is to 
advise Council on the development of a new strategic plan. The Strategy Review Group reports to the Board 
after each meeting.

The members of the Strategy Review Group are: Muiris O’Sullivan (Chairperson), Michael Parsons, Miriam 
Fitzpatrick, Ivor McElveen, Marie Bourke, Sinead McCartan, Fionnuala May, Jane Maxwell and Brian Walsh. 
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19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020             

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020   

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020    

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020  

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020   

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020  

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020   

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020    

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020    

19th July 2016 to 19th July 2020   
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SCHEDULE OF ATTENDANCE, FEES AND EXPENSES   

A schedule of attendance at the Board and Committee meetings for 2017 is set out below. The expenses re-
ceived by each member are included in Note 9 to the financial statements on page 87.

STRATEGY 
REVIEW 
GROUP

ATTENDEE BOARD
MEETING 

AUDIT, RISK & 
FINANCE 
COMMITTEE

SUCCESSION 
PLANNING  

BUSINESS 
ADVISORY 
GROUP 

NUMBER OF  MEETINGS

8   4    3     3         5

Michael Parsons 

Kieran Coughlan 

Mary Gallagher 

Muiris O'Sullivan

Brian Walsh 

Sinead Mc Cartan 

Miriam Fitzpatrick 

Marie Bourke 

Ivor Mc Elveen 

Jane Maxwell 

Fionnuala May 

Ray Pembroke

8

8

5

8

7

6

8

5

8

8

6

N/A

4

4

3

1

0

0

0

0

0

4

0

1

3

3

0

0

2

0

2

0

2

0

0

N/A

3

3

3

3

0

0

2

1

1

0

0

N/A

4

0

0

5

0

3

1

3

3

4

3

N/A

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND BOARD 
MEMBERS’ REPORT contd.    
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND BOARD 
MEMBERS’ REPORT contd.    
  

KEY PERSONNEL CHANGES

 
  

         

Disclosures Required by Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (2016) 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that The Heritage Council has complied with the requirements of the Code of 
Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (“the Code”), as published by the Department of Public Expenditure 
and Reform in August 2016. The following disclosures are required by the code:  

Consultancy Costs

Consultancy costs include the cost of external advice to management and exclude outsourced ‘business-as-
usual’ functions.     
            
  

Michael Parsons was appointed Chairperson on 5th October 2017.     
     
Michael O’Brien was appointed to the position of Head of Business Services on June 1st 2017 arising 
from the vacancy created by the resignation of Liam Scott in 2016.     
     
Helene O’Keeffe was appointed to the position of Head of Education and Communication on October 
2nd 2017 arising from the vacancy created by the secondment of Isabell Smyth. 

o

o

o

Legal advice

Business improvement

Human Resources & Recruitment

Internal Audit

S1003 Assessments

Conservation Advice &  Inspections

Financial 

Planning Submissions

Valuation of Works of Art

TOTAL

11,360

5,000

10,694

12,116

920

0

0

0

0

40,090

1,819

1,200

3,179

0

0

6,333

5,604

1,200

1,000

20,335

2017   2016
€ €
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Travel and Subsistence Expenditure 

Travel and subsistence expenditure is categorised as follows:      
     

*1     
Includes travel and subsistence of €20,165 paid directly to Board members in 2017 (2016: €9,615). The balance of €4,346 (2016: €3,537) relates 

to expenditure paid by the Heritage Council on behalf of the Board members. 

*2     
Includes travel and subsistence of €249 paid directly to Board members in 2017 (2016: €NIL). 

Legal Costs and Settlements 

The Heritage Council did not incurr any legal costs, settlements or conciliation and arbitration payments relating to 
contracts with third parties. All costs associated with general legal advice received by The Heritage Council is included 
in Consultancy costs above.     

Hospitality Expenditure

The Income and Expenditure Account includes the following hospitality expenditure:

Hospitality includes food, accommodation and beverages incurred in relation to the delivery of The Heritage Council 
programmes during 2017.

Domestic 

Board*1

Staff

International 

Board*²

Staff

Total

24,511

49,688

249

7,791

82,239

13,152

50,298

0

6,334

69,784

Board, Staff and Service Provider Hospitality  72,643 45,436

2017 
€ 

2016
€

2017 
€ 

2016
€

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND BOARD 
MEMBERS’ REPORT contd.    
  

67 The Heritage Council| Annual Report 2017



68

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

The Heritage Council has complied with the requirements of the Code of Practice for the Governance of State 
Bodies, as published by the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform in August 2016, with the following 
exceptions:  
         
The Heritage Council did not have all policies and procedures identified in the code in place in 2017. These in-
cluded the Governance Framework, Board terms of reference, Board/Staff code of conduct, Risk Management 
framework, Board Secretary. An External review of governance was commenced in 2017 and a programme to 
ensure full compliance with the code will be agreed and implemented in 2018.
     
The Council did not comply with its policy for the procurement of some goods and services in 2017. An external 
review of procurement was commenced in 2017 and an action plan to ensure full compliance will be put in place 
following this review. 
    
The self evaluation of the Audit, Risk & Finance Committee has not been completed.    
 
The ARFC report in writing to the Board after each meeting providing recurring reports on work carried out and 
conclusions reached and therefore it is deemed that an Annual Report of the Audit Committee referred to in 
the Model Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee in the Code is unnecessary.    
 

_________________________
Kieran Coughlan
Council Member
13th December 2018

___________________________
Jane Maxwell
Council Member
13th December 2018

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND BOARD 
MEMBERS’ REPORT contd.    
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PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF PRACTICE FOR THE 
GOVERNANCE OF STATE BODIES PUBLISHED IN 2016

SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY 
On behalf of The Heritage Council I acknowledge the Board’s responsibility for ensuring that an effective system 
of internal control is maintained and operated. This responsibility takes account of the requirements of the Code 
of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (2016).

PURPOSE OF THE SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL 
The System of Internal Control is designed to manage risk to a tolerable level rather than to eliminate it.  The system 
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions 
authorised and properly recorded, and that material errors or irregularities are either prevented or detected in a 
timely way.

The system of internal control, which accords with guidance issued by the Department of Public Expenditure and 
Reform, has been in place in The Heritage Council for the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of 
approval of the financial statements except for the internal control issues outlined below under “Internal Control 
Issues”.

CAPACITY TO HANDLE RISK 
The Heritage Council has an Audit, Risk & Finance Committee (ARFC) comprising three Board members, one of 
whom is the Chair, and one external member, with financial and audit expertise.  The ARFC met four times in 2017. 

The Heritage Council has also appointed external consultants to carry out the internal audit function which is 
adequately resourced and conducts a programme of work agreed with the ARFC. 

The ARFC has developed a risk management policy which sets out its risk appetite, the risk management process-
es in place and details the roles and responsibilities of staff in relation to risk. The Risk Policy was approved by the 
Board on 8th March, 2018. The policy has been issued to all staff who are expected to work within The Heritage 
Council’s risk management policies, to alert management on emerging risks and control weaknesses and assume 
responsibility for risks and controls within their own area of work. 

RISK AND CONTROL FRAMEWORK
The Heritage Council has implemented a risk management system which identifies and reports key risks and the 
management actions being taken to address and, to the extent possible, to mitigate those risks.   

A risk register is in place which identifies the key risks facing The Heritage Council and these have been identified, 
evaluated and graded according to their significance. The register is reviewed and updated by the ARFC on 
a bi-annual basis. The outcome of these assessments is used to plan and allocate resources to ensure risks are 
managed to an acceptable level.

STATEMENT ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL 
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The risk register details the controls and actions needed to mitigate risks and the responsibility for operation of 
controls assigned to specific staff. I confirm that a control environment containing the following elements is in 
place: 

• procedures for all key business processes have been documented,
• financial responsibilities have been assigned at management level with corresponding accountability,
• there is an appropriate budgeting system with an annual budget which is kept under review by senior 

management,
• there are systems aimed at ensuring the security of information and communications technology systems,
• there are systems in place to safeguard the assets, and
• control procedures over grant funding to outside agencies ensure the adequate control over approval of 

grants and monitoring and review of grantees to ensure grant funding has been applied for the purpose 
intended.

ONGOING MONITORING AND REVIEW 
Formal procedures have been established for monitoring control processes, and control deficiencies are commu-
nicated to those responsible for taking corrective action and to management and the Board, where relevant in a 
timely way. I confirm the following ongoing monitoring systems are in place:

• key risks and related controls have been identified, and processes have been put in place to monitor the 
operation of those key controls and report any identified deficiencies,

• reporting arrangements have been established at all levels where responsibility for financial management 
has been assigned, and 

• there are regular reviews by senior management of periodic and annual performance and financial re-
ports which indicate performance against budgets.

PROCUREMENT
I confirm that The Heritage Council has procedures in place to ensure compliance with current procurement rules 
and guidelines. Matters arising regarding controls over procurement are highlighted under “Internal Control 
Issues”. 

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS
I confirm that The Heritage Council has procedures to monitor the effectiveness of its risk management and control 
procedures.  The Heritage Council’s monitoring and review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is 
informed by the work of the internal and external auditors, the ARFC which oversees their work, and senior man-
agement within The Heritage Council responsible for the development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework. 

I confirm that the Board conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the internal controls for 2017on 8th  
March, 2018.

STATEMENT ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL contd.
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INTERNAL CONTROL ISSUES – HIGH PRIORITY
The weaknesses summarised below are “High Priority” weaknesses as identified during internal audits conducted 
by internal auditors, Mazars and by an independent review of Funding and Expenditure in the Historic Towns 
Initiative conducted by Crowe. “High Priority” weaknesses indicate that key business or operational risks need 
to be addressed immediately by management to prevent damage to resources, reputational damage or loss of 
information.

WEAKNESSES IN CONTROLS OVER BUDGETING

a) Treatment of Historic Towns Initiative Funding

The 2017 Budget had to be re-drafted due to a €1m shortfall identified in May 2017.  The Department of Culture, 
Heritage & the Gaeltacht had allocated an additional €1m in capital funding to Historic Towns to The Heritage 
Council budget and was of the understanding that this funding was to be allocated for a specific purpose known 
as the “6 Historic Towns Pilot Programme” and was not allocated to core funding. However, The Heritage Coun-
cil had allocated this additional funding to core funding which led to the shortfall of €1m.  

An external Independent Review of Funding and Expenditure in the Historic Towns Initiative report [18th July 
2018] identified a number of governance issues as follows:

• The making of commitments in respect of Historic Towns Initiative funding during 2017, in advance of appro-
priate approval being in place for related Departmental capital funding

• A delay in communication from the CEO to the Board of the Council regarding the treatment of the addition-
al €1m and subsequent amendments to the Council’s budget

• The making of a commitment to defer the payment of certain grants from 2017 to 2018, without appropriate 
approval being in place for related Departmental funding

In relation to the governance issues regarding the commitment to defer the payment of Grants from 2017 to 2018, 
without appropriate approval being in place for related Departmental funding, the Board of the Council sought 
the sanction of the Minister in September 2017 for the deferral. In October 2017, the Department granted the 
Council a further sum of €650,000, on foot of a funding request prepared by the executive and issued by the 
Board, which was intended to cover the cost of its Urban Heritage Programme in 2017. This, together with 2017 
savings identified, meant that the deferral of the payments of Grants to 2018 became no longer necessary. 

A number of actions have been taken or are in the process of implementation to avoid any such governance 
issues arising again:

The Board appointed external internal auditors in July 2017 and a programme of work covering the period 2017 
to 2020 has been agreed with the Internal Auditors to review all Risks and Internal Controls within the Heritage 
Council over this period. Recommendations arising from this programme of work will be overseen and imple-
mented by the ARFC and the Board and the action list and its status will be a recurring item on the agenda of the 
ARFC meetings. 

STATEMENT ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL contd.
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The Risk Register identified a Risk that Board members do not receive adequate information from the Executive 
to enable them to effectively fulfil their oversight /advisory role and an information disclosures policy is in the 
process of implementation whereby:

b) Monitoring Budgets

There are no formal warning systems in place to prevent and detect variances from budget and the budgets are 
not formally monitored by Heads of Service.  

The Heads of Service have now been provided with individual access to the finance system which provides live 
actual to budget variances on an ongoing basis for the budgets that each Head of Service is responsible for and 
will provide a formal warning system to detect variance from budget sub heads. The actual to budget variance 
reporting to Council commenced in Q4 of 2017 and all future actual to budget variance reports and analysis of 
variances for each Head of Service budget will be available.

The ARFC has introduced a policy for re-allocation of funding during the financial year where any proposed 
re-allocation exceeding €75,000 is required to be considered by the ARFC for recommendation for approval 
by the Board. This policy was approved by the Council on 13th September, 2018.

WEAKNESS IN CONTROLS OVER PROCUREMENT

An internal audit of procurement identified the following procurement issues:

• procurement of goods and services where no procurement or quotation process was undertaken and/or 
e-Tenders was not used,

• procurement of goods and services where there was no contract on file,
• no evidence of approval for contract extensions where extensions were provided for in contracts, 
• no monetary amount stated in contracts,
• lack of quotes or insufficient number of quotes were obtained for goods or services.

An internal review of expenditure to all suppliers whose turnover exceeded over €5,000 (including VAT) with 
The Heritage Council in 2017 identified expenditure of approximately €692,193 that was incurred in relation to 
goods and services where the procedures employed did not comply with procurement guidelines. This was due

STATEMENT ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL contd.

The review of allocated budgets has been placed as a key agenda item at the quarterly meetings held be-
tween the Department and executive of the Heritage Council and a record of the quarterly meeting between 
the Department and the executive of the Heritage Council are circulated to the Board
Departmental correspondence to the executive in relation to budgetary matters is copied to the Chairman 
of the Heritage Council
Risk is a standing item for all Board Meetings of the Council

(a)

(b)

(c)



to a number of factors, including;

• The expiration and rolling over of contracts
• The exceedance of thresholds due to the aggregation of expenditure which resulted in the incorrect pro-

curement method being used
• The incorrect number or no quotations/tenders sought
• Insufficient records maintained to establish compliance
• The provision of ongoing maintenance services by system installers

An external review of the Council’s procurement procedures was commenced in 2017 and finalised in 2018 and 
a range of actions, with associated timelines, were identified to address weaknesses in the Heritage Council’s 
procurement systems. The implementation of these actions will be monitored by the ARFC.

Procurement procedures have been updated and all staff have been made aware of the need to comply with 
procurement policies and procedures. Training has been provided to staff in 2018.  

A contracts register and a system for flagging non-competitive expenditure has been put in place.  

The Council has signed up to a number of OGP frameworks and is using the OGP for the procurement of goods 
and services where appropriate. 

A programme for the procurement of goods and services is in place. A further review of procurement by the in-
ternal auditor is scheduled for 2018 to review progress with regard to implementation of the procurement review 
actions.

WEAKNESSES IN CONTROLS OVER GRANTS

a) Compliance with Circular 13/2014

The Heritage Council is not in compliance with Circular 13/2014 “Management of and Accountability for Grants 
from Exchequer Funds” with regard to grantees providing proof of payment at grant drawdown stage. This was 
not adhered to in relation to drawdowns for grants offered in 2017 and in earlier years. The value of grant draw-
downs in 2017 was in the amount of €2,274,039 (Note 5).

This drawdown requirement has been changed for 2018 grant offers (except for grants providing core funding) 
to include a requirement that proof of payment is provided before any grant payments are made.  

In July 2018 The Heritage Council sought delegated sanction from the Department of Culture, Heritage and the 
Gaeltacht to pay "community group" grants up to €8,000 without proof of payment being a requirement of 
drawdown. In December 2018 the Departments of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht confirmed agreement to

STATEMENT ON INTERNAL 
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a grant payment policy which would allow the payment of grants under €8,000 to voluntary groups without 
proof of payment. 

b) Service Level Agreements for large scale grants

There was no Service Level Agreements in place for large scale grants in excess of €40,000.

An interim report on Service Level Agreements for grants provided to Regularly Funded Organisations was coun-
sidered by Council in December 2018. 

STATEMENT ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL contd.

_______________________
Michael Parsons               
Council Chariman
13th December 2018
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Report for presentation to the Houses of the Oireachtas

Heritage Council

Opinion on financial statements

I have audited the financial statements of the Heritage Council for the year ending 31 December 
2017 as required under the provisions of section 21 of the Heritage Act 1995. The financial state- 
ments comprise

• the statement of income and expenditure and retained revenue reserves
• the statement of comprehensive income
• the statement of financial position
• the statement of cash flows and
• the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial 
position of the Heritage Council at 31 December 2017 and of its income and expenditure for 2017 
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102 — The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland.

Basis of opinion

I conducted my audit of the financial statements in accordance with the International Standards on 
Auditing (ISAs) as promulgated by the International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions. My 
responsibilities under those standards are described in the appendix to this report. I am independent 
of the Heritage Council and have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
standards.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion.

Report on information other than the financial statements, and on other matters

The Heritage Council has presented certain other information together with the financial statements. 
This comprises a schedule of grant payments, the annual report, the governance statement and Board 
members’ report and the statement on internal control. My responsibilities to report in relation to such 
information, and on certain other matters upon which I report by exception, are described in the 
appendix to this report.

Non-compliance with procurement rules

I draw attention to the statement on internal control which discloses that in 2017 the Heritage Council 
incurred significant expenditure on goods and services the procurement of which was not compliant 
with the relevant procedures. The statement on internal control also sets out the steps being taken by 
the Council to address the procurement weaknesses.

Seamus McCarthy
Comptroller and Auditor General

20 December 2018
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Appendix to the report

Responsibilities of Board members

The governance statement and Board members’ report sets out 
the Board members’ responsibilities. The Board members are 
responsible for 
• the preparation of financial statements in the form pre- 

scribed under section 21 of the Heritage Act 1995
• ensuring that the financial statements give a true and fair 

view in accordance with FRS 102
• ensuring the regularity of transactions
• assessing whether the use of the going concern basis of 
         accounting is appropriate, and
• such internal control as they determine is necessary to
         enable the preparation of financial statements that are free          
         from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Responsibilities of the Comptroller and Auditor 
General

I am required under section 21 of the Heritage Act 1995 to au- 
dit the financial statements of the Heritage Council and to report 
thereon to the Houses of the Oireachtas.

My objective in carrying out the audit is to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement due to fraud or error. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individ- 
ually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise profes- 
sional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. In doing so,

• I identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements whether due to fraud or error; design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks; and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• I obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropri- 
ate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of express- 
ing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal controls.

• I evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and relat- 
ed disclosures.

• I conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit ev- 
idence obtained, on whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Heritage Council’s ability to continue as a go- 
ing concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
I am required to draw attention in my report to the related 

disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Heritage Council to cease to continue as a going concern.

• I evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair pre- 
sentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficien- 
cies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

Information other than the financial statements

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information presented with those statements, and I do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, I am re- 
quired under the ISAs to read the other information presented 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is mate- 
rially inconsistent with the financial statements or with knowledge 
obtained during the audit, or if it otherwise appears to be materi- 
ally misstated. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I am 
required to report that fact.

Reporting on other matters

My audit is conducted by reference to the special considerations 
which attach to State bodies in relation to their management and 
operation. I report if there are material matters relating to the man- 
ner in which public business has been conducted.

I seek to obtain evidence about the regularity of financial transac- 
tions in the course of audit. I report if there is any material instance 
where public money has not been applied for the purposes in- 
tended or where transactions did not conform to the authorities 
governing them.

I also report by exception if, in my opinion,
 
• I have not received all the information and explanations I 

required for my audit, or
• the accounting records were not sufficient to permit the 

financial statements to be readily and properly audited, or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the 

accounting records.



STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
AND RETAINED REVENUE RESERVES FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
 
  

6,491,000

232,998

529,000

228,029

7,481,027

3,009,426

920,951

1,663,407

5,593,784

164,902

273,413

14,430

822

1,394,749

233,570

2,081,886

7,675,670

(194,643)

666,639

471,996

2

3

11 (c) 

4

5

6(a)

6(b)

7

8

9

10

12

 

Notes

Income 

Oireachtas Grant

Other Income 

Net deferred funding for pensions

Transfer from Capital Account 

Total Income 

Expenditure 

Grants 

Policy Development

Support for Heritage Infrastructure

Total Grants, Policy & Infrastructure

Administration 

Establishment expenses 

Office supplies and administration

Council members’ honoraria & expenses 

Committee members’ expenses

Staff costs 

Depreciation 

Total Administration 

Total Expenditure 

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 

Balance brought forward at 1 January

Balance carried forward at 31 December

7,752,504

395,650

483,000

216,281

8,847,435

2,274,039

1,045,524

1,707,808

5,027,371

162,859

239,695

24,760

0

1,370,861

217,019

2,015,194

7,042,565

1,804,870

471,996

2,276,866

The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes 1 to 22 and Schedule of Grant Payments form part of these financial statements.

_____________________
Jane Maxwell
Council Member
13th December 2018

___________________
Kieran Coughlan
Council Member
13th December 2018

_________________
Michael Starrett                 
Chief Executive
13th December 2018

2017 
€ 

2016
€
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

_________________
Michael Starrett                 
Chief Executive
13th December 2018

1,804,870

(53,000)

(346,000)

(399,000)

399,000

1,804,870

11 (d)

Notes

Surplus/(deficit) for year 

 

Experience (losses)/gains on retirement benefit obligations 
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of retirement 
benefit obligations

 

Total actuarial (loss)/gain in the year 

Adjustments to deferred retirement benefits funding 

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 

The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes 1 to 22 and Schedule of Grant Payments form part of these financial  statements.

(194,643)

1,095,000

(1,076,000)

19,000

(19,000)

(194,643)

2017 
€ 

2016
€

_____________________
Jane Maxwell
Council Member
13th December 2018

___________________
Kieran Coughlan
Council Member
13th December 2018
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

6,343,100

405,883

847,713

1,253,596

781,601

471,995

(6,654,000)

6,654,000

0

6,815,095

6,343,099

471,996

6,815,095

12

13

14

11(b)

11(b)

4

Notes

Fixed Assets

Property, plant & equipment

Current Assets 

Receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Current Liabilities (amounts falling due within one year)

Payables

Net Current Assets

Retirement Benefits

Retirement Benefit Obligations

Deferred Retirement benefit funding asset

Total Net Assets

Representing

Capital Account 

Retained Revenue Reserves

6,126,819

475,907

2,468,110

2,944,017

667,152

2,276,865

(7,536,000)

7,536,000

0

8,403,684

6,126,818

2,276,866

8,403,684

2017 
€ 

2016
€

_________________
Michael Starrett                 
Chief Executive
13th December 2018

_____________________
Jane Maxwell
Council Member
13th December 2018

___________________
Kieran Coughlan
Council Member
13th December 2018
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

(194,643)

233,570

(119,740)

181,573

(228,029)

(127,269)

(5,541)

(5,541)

0

(132,810)

980,523

847,713

12

4

4

Notes

Cash flow from operating activities

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year

Depreciation

(Increase)/Decrease in receivables

(Decrease)/Increase in payables

Capital Account Movement

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments to acquire property, plant & equipment

Net Cash Flows from investing activities

Cash flows from Financing Activities

Net Cash Flows from Financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 December 

 

1,804,870

217,019

(70,024)

(114,449)

(216,281)

1,621,135

(738)

(738)

0

1,620,397

847,713

2,468,110

2017 
€ 

2016
€
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
  
NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES     
The basis of accounting and significant accounting policies adopted by The Heritage Council are set out below. They have 
all been applied consistently throughout the year and for the preceding year.     
     

General Information     
The Heritage Council was set up under the Heritage Act 1995, with a head office at А´ras na hOidreachta, Church 
Lane, Kilkenny. The Heritage Council’s primary objectives as set out in Section 6 of The Heritage Act 1995 are as fol-
lows: to propose policies and priorities for the identification, protection, preservation and enhancement of the national 
heritage and to promote its appreciation.     
     
Statement of Compliance     
The financial statements of The Heritage Council for the year ended 31 December 2017 have been prepared in accor-
dance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland (FRS102) 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC), as promulgated by Chartered Accountants Ireland.    
  
Basis of Preparation     
The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis, under the historical cost convention, except for  
certain assets and liabilities as explained in the accounting policies below. The financial statements are in the form 
approved by the Minister for Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht with the concurrence of the Minister for Public Ex-
penditure and Reform under The Heritage Act, 1995. The following accounting policies have been applied consistently 
in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to The Heritage Council’s financial statements.
     
Revenue     
Oireachtas Grants: Revenue is generally recognised on an accruals basis; one exception to this is in the case of 
Oireachtas Grants which are recognised on a receipts basis.     
Other Revenue: Other revenue is recognised on an accruals basis.

Grant Payments 
The Heritage Council offers grants to various bodies and individuals to carry out works under its heritage grant schemes.  
When a grantee accepts the terms and conditions of a grant offer from Council, Council enters into a commitment with 
that grantee. That commitment is recognised as an accrual only when the grantee is seen to have fulfilled the full terms 
and conditions of the grant offer. Details of grant commitments at 31 December 2017 are given in note 17.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, adjusted for any provision for impair-
ment. Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land and artwork, at rates 
estimated to write off the cost less the estimated residual value of each asset on a straight line basis over their estimated 
useful lives as follows:

Residual value represents the estimated amount which would currently be obtained from disposal of an asset, after 
deducting estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of an age and in the condition expected at the end of 
its useful life.

If there is objective evidence of impairment of the value of an asset, an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement 
of Income and Expenditure and Retained Reserves in the year.

     

a)

b)

c)

d)

e)

f)

Buildings 
Leasehold
Office Equipment 
Works of Art
Motor Vehicles
Plant & Equipment

2.50%
10%
20%
0%
20%
20%/10%

Office Furniture 
Computers 
(Hardware & Software)
Reference Material and 
OSI Licences

10%/20%
25%

20%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
  
Note 1. Accounting Policies contd.     

Capital Account
The capital account comprises income allocated for the purchase of fixed assets. It is amortised in line with the depre-
ciation of the related assets.

Leasing
Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised and included in property, plant and equipment and depreciated 
in accordance with the Council policy.

Employee Benefits     
Short-term Benefits
Short term benefits such as holiday pay are recognised as an expense in the year, and benefits that are accrued at 
year-end are included in the Payables figure in the Statement of Financial Position.

Retirement Benefits
The Heritage Council previously established its own defined benefit pension scheme, funded annually on a pay-as-
you-go basis from monies provided by The Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht and from contributions 
deducted  from staff and members’ salaries.

The Heritage Council also operates the Single Public Services Pensions Scheme (“Single Scheme”), which is a defined 
benefit scheme for pensionable public servants appointed on or after 1 January, 2013. Single  Scheme members’ 
contributions are paid over to Department of Public Expenditure and Reform (DPER). It should be noted that currently 
The Heritage Council does not have any Single Scheme members. 

Pension costs reflect pension benefits earned by employees, and are shown net of staff pension contributions which 
are retained by The Heritage Council. An amount corresponding to the pension charge is recognised as income to the  
extent that it is recoverable, and offset by grants received in the year to discharge pension payments. Actuarial gains 
or losses arising on scheme liabilities are reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, and a corresponding 
adjustment is recognised in the amount recoverable from the Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht.

The financial statements reflect, at fair value, the assets and liabilities arising from The Heritage Council’s pension ob-
ligations and any related funding, and recognises the costs of providing pension benefits in the accounting periods in 
which they are earned by employees. Retirement benefit scheme liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using 
the projected unit credit method.
     
Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for 
revenues and expenses during the year. However, the nature of estimation means that the actual outcomes could differ 
from those estimates. The following judgements have the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indi-
cate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less cost to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). Non financial assets that suffered impair-
ment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

g)

h)

i)

j)

The Heritage Council| Annual Report 2017



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
  
Note 1. Accounting Policies Contd.     

Note 2: Oireachtas Grants 
    
The amount of €7,752,504 comprises Grants from the Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht and the Environ-
ment Fund managed by the Department of Communications, Climate Action & Environment and the Department of Rural and 
Community Development in respect of the Beara Breifne Way. 

Administration Grants (Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht Vote 33, 
Subhead B.3.1)

Non-Capital Grants (Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht  Vote 33, Subhead 
B.3.2) (National Lottery funded)

Non Capital Grants (Environment Fund: Natural Heritage) 

Capital Grants (Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht, National Monuments 
Service)

Capital Grants (Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht Vote 33, Subhead B.3.1) 
(National Lottery funded)

Capital Grant (Environment Fund, Department of Communication,  Climate Action & 
Environment, Vote 29 )

Department of Culture, Heritage & Gaeltacht - Funding towards European Year of Cultural 
Heritage Communication

Creative Ireland - Funding towards European Year of Cultural Heritage Progamme

Department of Rural and Community Development - Funding towards Development of 
Beara Breifne Way 

Total   

1,468,000

2,098,000

447,158

40,000

2,338,000

748,000

45,000

75,000

493,346

         7,752,504 
 

1,468,000

2,087,000

460,000

40,000

1,688,000

748,000

0

0

0

6,491,000

2017 
€ 

2016
€

Depreciation and Residual Values
The Board have reviewed the asset lives and associated residual values of all fixed asset classes, and in particular, the 
useful economic life and residual values of fixtures and fittings, and have concluded that asset lives and residual values 
are appropriate.

Retirement Benefit Obligation
The assumptions underlying the actuarial valuations for which the amounts recognised in the financial statements are 
determined (including discount rates, rate of inflation, rates of increase in future compensation levels, mortality rates 
and retirement age) are updated annually based on current economic conditions and for any relevant changes to the 
terms and conditions of the pension and post-retirement plans.

The assumptions can be affected by:
(i)  
(ii)  
(iii)  

the discount rate, changes in the rate of return on high quality corporate bonds
future compensation levels, future labour market conditions; and
mortality rates and age of retirement
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
  

Note 3: Other Income
    

Note 4: Capital Account 
 

Dept. of Agriculture Contribution towards Traditional Farm Buildings Scheme (Department of 
Agriculture, Food and  the Marine Vote 30, Subhead C.3.1)   

Failte Ireland - Grant to Support Heritage Week   

Irish Walled Towns Membership Fee & Seminar Income 

Contribution of Local Authorities to Heritage Viewer Project   

Bord Bia Contribution to Pollinator Co-Ordinator Post in National Biodiversity Data Centre  
 
Erasmus Train the Trainer Grant re: Buildings Limes   

Heritage in Schools - Contribution of Local Authorities to Cost of School Visits  
 
Heritage Week Advertising    

Insurance Settlements   

Department of Culture, Heritage & the Gaeltacht - Funding towards Study of Architectural Conservation Areas 
  
Department of Public Expenditure & Reform - Funding towards Heritage Viewer Programme  
 
Office of Public Works  - Funding towards Discovery Programme Research  
 
Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland   - Funding towards Research into Retrofit of Buildings 
  
National Shared Services Office - Repayment of Costs of Seconded Staff of Heritage Council  
 
Failte Ireland - Repayment of Travel and Subsistence for Heritage Council staff involved in Failte 
Ireland judging panels   

Life 11 ENV/IE/922 Burren GeoparkLIFE project costs refunded   

Miscellaneous   

Total     

  

71,876

30,000

72,490

30,000

30,000

0

300

6,328

0

3,525

2,868

50,000

8,938

43,771

978

44,088

488

395,650

65,838

30,000

67,037

29,500

25,000

5,282

1,960

6,048

672

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1,661

232,998

Balance at 1 January  

Transfer (to)/from Income and Expenditure Account 

Amount allocated to fund fixed asset purchases 

Less: Amortisation in line with depreciation

Balance at 31 December 

6,343,099

738

(217,019)

(216,281)

6,126,818

6,571,128

5,541

(233,570)

(228,029)

6,343,099

2017 
€ 

2016
€

2017 
€ 

2016
€
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

Note 5: Grants Payable

    
The Schedule of grant payments contains details of grants payable during the year

Staff costs in respect of Traditional Farm Buildings GLAS project administration is included in “Promotion of Preventative Maintenance” of 
€101,659

Note 6(a) :  Policy Expenditure
 

Irish National Strategic Archaeological Research  

Irish Walled Towns Network Grants towards  Current Projects  

Irish Walled Towns Network Grants towards Capital Works  

Policy & Infrastructure Grants  

County Heritage Plan Grants  

Community Based Heritage Grants  

Thatch Conservation Grants  

Museum Standards Programme Grants  

Irish Landmark Trust Ltd.  (Note 15)  

Discovery Programme:  Centre for Archaeology and Innovation Ireland  (Note 16)  

TOTAL    

40,000

122,088

168,927

316,919

280,602

216,041

17,000

43,962

231,000

837,500

2,274,039

40,000

87,958

220,498

412,213

484,557

794,200

0

0

220,000

750,000

3,009,426

2017 
€ 

2016
€

Articulation of Heritage in National Landscape Policies   

Heritage in Schools   

Heritage Week   

Communication of Council activities   

Research & Studies   

Publications   

Joint Programme for Cutural Heritage - Communications Element   

Conservation Internships   

Promotion of Preventative Maintenance    

Burren GeoparkLIFE    

European Year of Cultural Heritage 2018     

TOTAL    

83,737

332,082

328,406

58,786

0

4,531

2,527

50,575

101,659

34,608

48,613

1,045,524

76,045

244,432

305,913

97,728

14,895

9,439

7,954

36,251

89,661

38,633

0

920,951

2017 
€ 

2016
€
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
  

Note 6(b): Heritage Infrastructure    
     

Note 7: Establishment expenses 
 

National Biodiversity Data Centre

Field Monument Advisors database development

Museum Standards Programme

Heritage Officer  Programme

Heritage Viewer

Urban Heritage (including Irish Walled Towns Network Administration)

TOTAL    

818,309

2,140

145,059

529,649

41,185

171,466

1,707,808

789,998

2,140

122,730

548,897

110,804

88,838

1,663,407

Storage 

Power, heat and light 

Canteen, catering and cleaning 

Meetings

Repairs, maintenance & security

Insurance 

Rental of Art Works

TOTAL  

14,700

15,355

25,684

28,543

57,433

17,769

3,375

162,859

17,497

16,706

23,536

13,150

76,032

17,981

0

164,902

2017 
€ 

2016
€

2017 
€ 

2016
€
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1 Gifts include a  gift to a Heritage Officer on leaving post of Heritge Officer (€50),  gift to a Heritage Officer in appreciation of organising Council 
meeting in Sligo (€67), presentation to HRH Prince of Wales on  his visit to Kilkenny where he met with The Heritage Council (€260), presentation 
to Museum Standards Programme of Ireland (MSPI) Co-Ordinator on tenth anniversary of MSPI programme (€93) and Christmas gifts of heritage 
publications to Council members (€300).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
  

Note 8: Office supplies and administration
 

Telephone and postage 

Stationery, printing & office equipment repairs 

Annual Report

Library 

Computer supplies and maintenance 

Professional fees 

Sundry

Legal Fees

Subscriptions

Audit fee

Interest & Charges

Gifts 1

TOTAL

19,818

14,783

11,974

106

112,653

47,090

1,733

11,360

8,555

9,000

1,853

770

239,695

25,798

20,100

9,586

874

127,591

66,012

2,593

1,819

7,739

7,100

2,100

2,101

273,413

2017 
€ 

2016
€

Note 9:  Council Members Expenses
 

6,469

1,856

1,697

1,615

2,702

3,692

1,306

2,304

185

540

2,394

24,760

Expenses
Claimed

Michael Parsons

Sinead McCartan

Jane Maxwell

Mary Gallagher

Kieran Coughlan

Muiris O’Suilleabhain

Marie Bourke

Miriam Fitzpatrick

Fionnuala May

Ivor McElveen

Brian Walsh

TOTAL 

380

950

380

260

185

540

563

373

185

540

239

4,595

Accommodation & 
Meals & Travel 

Provided

Total

€ €
6,089

906

1,317

1,355

2,517

3,152

743

1,931

0

0

2,155

20,165

€

In line with their letters of appointment no fees are payable to Board Members. 
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The total number of staff employed by the Heritage Council at year end was 15. This is comprised of The Heritage Coun-
cil complement of 14 staff  together with contract staff member employed for a specific project. (2016 -13). The average 
number of staff and salaries costs include one staff member who was seconded to the Department of Public Expenditure & 
Reform (DPER) with effect from 22 June 2017. The salary costs in respect of this staff member have been charged to DPER 
and are included in Note 3, Other Income on page 84 under “National Shared Services Office - Repayment of Costs of 
Seconded Staff of Heritage Council”.     

€43,619 was deducted from staff by way of pension levy and was paid over to the Department of Culture, Heritage and 
the Gaeltacht.

CEO Remuneration Package
The CEO received salary payments of €112,205 in 2017 (€109,451 in 2016). No bonus payments were made to the CEO 
in 2016 or 2017.  The CEO received recoupment of travel and subsistence expenses of  €6,293 (€6,466 in 2016). The CEO 
is a member of an unfunded defined benefit public sector scheme and his pension entitlements do not extend beyond the 
standard entitlements in the public sector defined benefit superannuation scheme.

The numbers included in the salary categories above include one staff member who was seconded to the Department of 
Public Expenditure & Reform (DPER) with effect from 22 June 2017.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

Note 10: Staff Costs 

NOTES 

Staff salaries and wages 

Recruitment Costs

Pension Costs

Staff Well Being & Settlements

Travel and Expenses 

Training 

Holiday Accrual 

TOTAL

860,742

11,883

426,000

330

57,479

14,427

0

1,370,861

836,454

5,934

473,000

130

56,632

24,673

(2,074)

1,394,749

2017 
€ 

2016
€

11 (a)

€60,000 TO €69,999

€70,000 TO €79,999

€80,000 TO €89,999

€90,000 TO €99,999

€100,000 TO €109,999

7

2

0

0

1

2017 2016

     Salary Category 

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Number of employees Number of employees 

7

1

0

0

1
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(a) Analysis of total retirement benefit costs charged to the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Re-
tained Revenue Reserves

(b) Movement in net retirement benefit obligations during the financial year

(c) Deferred Funding for retirement benefits

The Heritage Council recognises these amounts as an asset corresponding to the unfunded deferred liability for retirement 
benefits on the basis of the set of assumptions described below and a number of past events. These events include the stat-
utory basis for the establishment of the retirement benefit scheme, and the policy and practice currently in place in relation 
to funding public service pensions including the contributions by employees and the annual estimates process. The Heritage 
Council has no evidence that this funding policy will not continue to meet such sums in accordance with current practice.

The Net Deferred Funding for retirement benefits recognised in the Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained 
Reserves was as follows:  

The deferred funding asset for retirement benefits at 31 December 2017 amounts to €7.536m (2016: €6.654m)  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

Note 11: Superannuation Scheme 

Current Service Costs

Interest on retirement benefit scheme liabilities

Employee Contributions

TOTAL

 362,000 

 126,000 

(62,000)

426,000

 365,000 

 169,000 

(61,000)

473,000

2017 
€ 

2016
€

Net retirement benefit obligation at 1 January

Current Service Cost 

Employee Contributions

Interest Cost

Actuarial (loss)/gain

Pensions paid in year

Net retirement benefit obligation at 31 December

 (6,654,000)

(300,000)

(62,000)

(126,000)

(399,000)

5,000

(7,536,000)

(6,144,000)

(304,000)

(61,000)

(169,000)

19,000

5,000

(6,654,000)

2017 
€ 

2016
€

Funding Recoverable in respect of current year retirement benefit costs  

State grant applied to pay retirement benefits  

TOTAL  

  488,000 

(5,000)

483,000

 534,000 

(5,000)

529,000

2017 
€ 

2016
€
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(d) History of defined benefit obligations

* This item consists of gains/(losses) in respect of liability experience only and excludes any change in liabilities in respect 
of changes to the actuarial assumptions used. 

(e) General Description of the Scheme

The retirement benefit scheme is a defined benefit final salary pension arrangement with benefits and contributions defined 
by reference to current “model” public sector scheme regulations. The scheme provides a pension (1/80 per year of ser-
vice), a gratuity or lump sum (3/80 per year of service) and spouse’s and children’s pensions. Normal Retirement Age is 
a member’s 65th birthday, and pre 2004 members have an entitlement to retire without actuarial reduction from age 60. 
Pensions in payment (and deferment) normally increase in line with general public sector salary inflation. 
    
The disclosures below have been prepared for the Heritage Council in relation to benefits payable from the Heritage 
Council Employee Superannuation Scheme 2003 and Spouses and Children’s Scheme. The schemes are un-funded of 
the defined benefit type, providing retirement benefits based on service and pensionable salary. The valuation used for 
FRS 102 disclosures have been based on a full assessment of the liabilities of the Schemes as at 31 December 2017. The 
present values of the defined benefit obligation and the service cost were measured using the projected unit credit method. 
This disclosure note includes balance sheet and assumption details for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 
December 2016.  
    
The principal actuarial assumptions used by independent qualified actuaries to calculate the liabilities under FRS 102 are 
set out below:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

Note 11: Superannuation Scheme Contd.

   

Defined Benefit Obligations

Experience Gains/ (Losses) on Scheme Liabilities * 

Percentage of Scheme Liabilities

7,536

(53)

-0.70%

6,654

1,095

16.50%

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 
€ € € € €

6,114

(45)

-0.70%

6,097

94

1.54%

3,880

267

6.88%

Inflation 

Rate of general long-term increase in salaries

Rate of increase in state benefits

Rate of increase in deferred benefits

Pension Increases

Discount rate for scheme liabilities

1.90%

3.40%

1.90%

2.40%

2.40%

1.80%

 1.80%

3.30%

1.80%

2.30%

2.30%

1.90%

    31/12/17 31/12/16Assumptions 
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Buildings Leasehold Office 
Furniture 

Office 
Equipment 

Plant &
 Equipment Computers 

Reference 
Material & OSI 

Licences

Motor 
Vehicles Works of Art TOTAL

COST 

As at 1 
January 2017

Additions 

Disposal 

As 31 
December 2017

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

As at 1 
January 2017

Charge for year 

On disposals 

As 31 
December 2017

NET BOOK 
AMOUNTS

As at 1 
January 2017

As at 31 
December 2017

8,064,752

0

0

8,064,752

1,956,990

201,619

0

2,158,609

6,107,762

5,906,143

 429,417 

0

 429,417 

0

 429,417

0

429,417

0

0

0

225,433

738

0

226,171

218,189

565

0

218,754

7,244

7,417

198,046

0

0

198,046

188,787

3,300

0

192,087

9,259

5,959

18,147

0

0

18,147

14,609

911

0

15,520

3,538

2,627

803,320

0

0

803,320

791,240

10,624

0

801,864

12,080

1,456

457,204

0

0

457,204

457,204

0

0

457,204

0

0

20,703

0

0

20,703

20,703

0

0

20,703

0

0

203,217

0

0

203,217

0

0

0

0

203,217

203,217

10,420,239

738

429,417

9,991,560

4,077,139

217,019

429,417

3,864,741

6,343,100

6,126,819

         €                         €                          €                        €                       €                        €                       €                             €                     €               €

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

Male, now aged 45

Male, now aged 65

Female, now aged 45

Female, now aged 65

24.9

23.0

27.3

25.2

24.8

22.9

27.2

25.1

    31/12/17 31/12/16Life expectancy at age 65  

Note 11: Superannuation Scheme Contd.

Mortality Assumptions: At 31st December 2017, we have used mortality assumptions for current and future pensioners based on stan-
dard mortality tables allowing for future mortality improvements. The life expectancies from age 65 for sample ages, as derived from these 
mortality assumptions, would be as follows (31 December 2016 life expectancies also provided for comparison): 

Note 12: Property, Plant and Equipment
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Note 13:  Receivables

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

Debtors 

Prepayments & Other Debtors 

TOTAL  

 47,689

428,218

475,907

81,942

323,941

405,883

2017 
€ 

2016
€

Note 14:  Payables

The Heritage Council incurred rental payments in respect of a lease on the property occupied by the National Biodiversity 
Data Centre at Carriganore, Co. Waterford in the amount of €20,000 which is included in the National Bidiversity Centre 
Costs at Note 6 (b)   

Note 15: The Irish Landmark Trust Ltd. 
    

The Irish Landmark Trust Ltd was established in 1992 as a non profit company with the objective of saving historic buildings 
that were abandoned or at risk. This is achieved by giving them a useful and viable function as short term holiday acco-
modation, which would secure their long term future. The level of Council funding each year is determined by reference to 
Councils’ Five Year Plan, the Irish Landmark Trust’s Corporate Plan, and Council’s over all budgetery position.  
   
Note 16: Discovery Programme: Centre for Archaeology and Innovation Ireland    
 

The Council funds the Discovery Programme that was established in 1991 and was registered as a company, limited by 
guarantee on 15 January 1996. The Council is responsible for appointing the chair of the Discovery Programme and three of 
its directors. The Chief Executive or his nominee is one of Council’s representatives on the Board of the Discovery Programme. 
The level of Council funding each year is determined by reference to Council’s Five Year Plan, The Discovery Programme’s 
Corporate Plan, and Council’s overall budgetary position. The purpose of the programme is to enhance our understanding 
of Ireland’s past through research and archaeological excavations.     
     

Creditors 

Accruals

General Creditors & Accruals

Grants Outstanding

TOTAL  

346,939

235,949

582,888

84,264

667,152

191,749

311,972

503,721

277,880

781,601

2017 
€ 

2016
€
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Fionnuala May

Michael Parsons

Brian Walsh

Ivor McElveen

€8,000 for County Heritage Plan Grant C06518. Not paid in 2017 but included in grant 
commitments of €1,387,837 at note 17.

€7,000 for County Heritage Plan Grant C06415

€1,700 for Community Based  Heritage Grant CH06754. Not paid in 2017 but included 
in grant commitments of €1,387,837 at note 17. 

€9,500 for Community Based  Heritage Grant CH06849. Not paid in 2017 but included 
in grant commitments of €1,387,837 at note 17. 

€8,000 for Community Based  Heritage Grant CH06814. €2,667 paid in 2017 and the 
balance of grant is included in  grant commitments of €1,387,837 at note 17.

€25,000 for Traditional Farm Buildings Grant Glas1449.    
 
€18,750 for Traditional Farm Buildings Grant Glas2088.   
 
€13,105 for Traditional Farm Buildings Grant Glas2242.
        

Note 17:  Grant Commitments 

At 31 December 2017 the Council had entered into grant commitments in connection with activities due to take place after 
that date. The amount committed of €1,387,837 is not reflected in these Financial Statements.

Note 18: Related Party Disclosures

Key management personnel in The Heritage Council consist of the CEO and members of the Board. Total compensation paid 
to key management personnel, including Board members’ expenses and total CEO remuneration, amounted to €138,663 
(2016: €126,810). For a breakdown of the remuneration and benefits paid to key managment personnel, please refer to 
note 9 and note 10.

The Heritage Council adopts procedures in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Department of Public Expenditure 
and Reform covering the personal interests of Board members. In the normal course of business, The Heritage Council may 
approve grants and enter into other contractual arrangements with entities in which The Heritage Council Board members 
are employed or otherwise interested. In cases of potential conflict of interest, Board members do not participate in or attend 
discussions regarding these transactions. A register is maintained and available on request of all such instances.

The following members disclosed an interest in organisations to which financial assistance was approved in the year. It 
should be noted that Traditional Farm Building Grants are approved by The Heritage Council but paid by The Department of 
Agriculture, Food and the Marine and are therefore not reflected in the financial statements of The Heritage Council. 
            

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

Grants committed at 1 January 

Approvals in year

Grants decommitted & write offs

Grant expenditure in the year

Grant Commitments at 31 December

410,090

3,601,050

(349,264)

(2,274,039)

1,387,837

441,701

3,368,995

(391,180)

(3,009,426)

410,090

2017 
€ 

2016
€
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Note 19: Going Concern 

The Council draws funds from the Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht as and when required. It recognises 
this income on a cash receipts basis but recognises expenditure on an accruals basis. The Council believes that the depart-
ment will continue to fund its approved activities and on this basis it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a 
going concern basis.

Note 20: Premises     
     

The Heritage Council operates from a premises at А´ras na hOidhreachta, Church Lane, Kilkenny which it occupies and 
owns. 

Note 21: Appointment of Board of The Heritage Council 

The Board of The Heritage Council was appointed by the Minister for Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht on 19th July, 
2016.

Note 22: Approval of Financial Statements

The Financial Statements were approved by Council on 26th July 2018.      
           

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
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THE HERITAGE COUNCIL 
SCHEDULE OF GRANT 

PAYMENTS



Ref. Number Recipient Name Project Title Local Authority Areas €

WD05578

WD06307

WD06314

WD06738

WD06745

WD06759

WD06799

WD06818

WD06854

WD06855

WD06861

WD06878

WD06934

WD06938

WD06946

WD06972

WD07005

WD07060

WD07100

WD07160

WD07217

WD07253

Derry City and Strabane District 
Council Northern Ireland

Friends of the Derry Walls

Athlone Arts & Tourism Ltd.

Mid and East Antrim Borough Council 
(MEABC)

Kildare Town Tourism Group

Carlingford Lough Heritage Trust 
[CLHT]

Kilkenny County Council

Tipperary County Council

Cork County Counci East Cork 
Municpal District

Cork County Council, East Cork 
Municipal District

Athlone Arts and Tourism Ltd

Buttevant Heritage Group

Galway County Council

Dublin City Council

Rothe House Trust

Loughrea Medieval Festival

Cork County Council East Cork 
Municipal District

Galway County Council

Galway County Council

Louth County Council

Dublin County Council

Omeath District Development

Ireland - Northern

Ireland - Northern

Westmeath

Ireland - Northern

Kildare

Louth

Kilkenny

Tipperary 

Cork - Cork County

Cork - Cork County

Westmeath

Cork - Cork County

Galway - Galway County

Dublin - Dublin City

Kilkenny

Galway - Galway County

Cork - Cork County

Galway - Galway County

Galway - Galway County

Louth

Dublin - Dublin City

Louth

6,000

6,000

2,500

7,000

4,500

6,000

4,000

7,838

12,000

5,000

3,500

2,500

8,000

10,000

750

13,000

5,000

2,500

2,500

6,000

5,000

2,500

122,088

Irish Walled Towns Day 2015

Derry Walls Day 2016 - Year of the Sword

Athlone Castle Tour Guide Training Programme

Develop the interpretative fit-out design for a 
‘Built Heritage’ Visitor Attraction in Carrickfergus

Kildare Town Medieval Festival 2017

“Lighting Up Time”, feasibility study

Kilkenny City Walls Signage 2017

Festival Cluain Meala 2017 - Walled Town 
Event & Heritage Week Event

Youghal Medieval Festival 2017

Tour Guide Training, Youghal’s Built Heritage

Enhancements to the Athlone Castle Medieval 
Fair

Developing a Sustainable Heritage Tourism 
Sector in Small Irish Towns

Athenry Walled Town Day 2017

Wood Quay Venue exhibition content creation

Textiles Through The Ages

Loughrea Medieval Festival 2017

Sir Walter Raleigh’s Treasure Trail and Activity 
Booklet

Z Card Trail of Medieval Loughrea

Athenry Medieval Heritage Trail Z Cards

Interpretation Planning (including landscaping) 
for Laurence’s Gate, Drogheda

Viking and Medieval Dublin Online project - 
Phase 3

 History, Heritage and Nature

                                                                             IRISH WALLED TOWNS NETWORK CURRENT GRANTS    

TOTAL

Ref. Number Recipient Name Project Title Local Authority Areas €

                                                                 IRISH NATIONAL STRATEGIC ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESEARCH GRANTS   

University College Cork Seeing beyond the Site 2017 – Year 3 All of Ireland 40,000AR07287
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Ref. Number Recipient Name Project Title Local Authority Areas €

W06277

W06690

W06731

W06749

W06847

W06924

W06940

W06953

W07041

W07116

W07117

Bandon Walled Town Committee

Castledermot Local History Group

Tipperary County Council

Buttevant Heritage Group

Tipperary County Council

Waterford City and County Council

Cork County Council

Louth County Council

Limerick City & County Council

St. John’s Parish Heritage Group

Wexford County Council

Cork - Cork County

Kildare

Tipperary 

Cork - Cork County

Tipperary 

Waterford - Waterford City

Cork - Cork County

Louth

Limerick - Limerick County

Roscommon

Wexford

2,754

3,704

30,000

30,000

20,000

3,469

10,000

4,000

30,000

30,000

5,000

168,927

Removal of Vegetation from the Bandon Wall

Seek and Save: Castledermot Town Wall Con-
servation Project (Phase 1)

Conservation Work to Wall at St John’s Cathe-
dral (Heritage Trail)

Buttevant Medieval Wall Restoration 

Conservation and Stabilisation Works to Town 
Wall at Ormonde Castle Quarter

Conservation of Waterford City Walls 

Phase 9 of Structural Works to Secure Integrity 
of Youghal Town Walls

Planning for conservation works at Featherbed 
Lane, Drogheda

Conservation works to West Town Wall of Em-
mett St. Kilmallock 2017

Urgent Conservation Works to Wall, Rindoon, St. 
John’s Parish Roscommon

Preparatory site surveys, Town Wall Zone 6, 
Wexford 2017

                                                                               IRISH WALLED TOWNS NETWORK CAPITAL GRANTS    

TOTAL
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Ref. Number Recipient Name Project Title Local Authority Areas €

D05655

D06373

D06399

D06401

D06410

D06416

D06470

D06471

D06479

D06480

D06481

D06483

D06488

D06489

D07278

D07279

D07280

D07282

D07283

D07284

D07285

D07286

Institute of Archaeologists of Ireland

National Association of Principals & 
Deputy Principals

The Irish Museums Association

The Institute of Conservator-Restorers in 
Ireland (ICRI)

Burrenbeo

European Forum on Nature 
Conservation and Pastoralism

Bere Island Projects Group

Burren Community Charter

High Nature Value Services Ltd (HNVS)

University College Dublin

Ireland Reaching Out

Wicklow Uplands Council

Irish Forest School Association (IFSA)

Woodlands of Ireland Project

BirdWatch Ireland

Abbeyleix Bog Project Ltd

National Biodiversity Data Centre

Michael Potterton

Liam Downey

National Association of Principals and 
Deputy Principals

Pat Reid

Irish Historic Towns Atlas (IHTA)

All of Ireland

Ireland - Republic of

All of Ireland

All of Ireland

Clare, Galway - Galway 
County

Ireland 

Cork - Cork County

Clare, Galway - Galway 
County

Clare

All of Ireland

Galway - Galway County

Wicklow

All of Ireland

Ireland - Republic of

Galway - Galway County

Laois

Ireland - Republic of

All of Ireland

All of Ireland

All of Ireland

Wicklow

Dublin - Dublin City

10,000

10,000

11,000

8,400

21,000

42,000

23,000

5,250

15,750

2,895

22,396

68,250

1,500

42,000

7,500

2,500

7,478

1,000

2,500

10,500

500

1,500

316,919

IAI CPD Coordinator

Creative Engagement Programme 2016

Core Funding 2017

2017 Professional Accreditation, publications, 
CPD grants & training for conservator-restorers

Place-based Learning and Community Steward-
ship activities

Results-Based Agri-environment Payment 
Scheme (RBAPS) pilot project- Year 3

Bere Island Conservation Plan Implementation 
activities

Burren Community Charter 2017 implementation

Field Monument Advisor (FMA) Scheme 2017

Irish Archives Resource Digital Resource Pack 
Series

Heritage Resource Manager for Ireland 
Reaching Out

Core Funding 2017

Irish Forest School Association Start Up Support

Core Funding 2017

Repair and Rebuild Inishee Island predator proof 
fence 2017

Community Wetlands Forum Strategic Plan 2017 
- 2020 Publication & Launch 2017

Irish Vegetation Classification 2017 - Phase 3

Towns in Medieval Ireland: Seminar

Antiquities of Rural Ireland Publication

Creative Engagement Programme 2017

‘Art and Atmosphere’ Exhibition, Glendalough 
Heritage Week Event 2017

Mapping Townscapes Conference 2017

                                                                                               POLICY & INFRASTRUCTURE GRANTS    

TOTAL
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Ref. Number Recipient Name Project Title Local Authority Areas €

Limerick - Limerick City

Kerry

Kerry

Louth

Sligo

Louth

Tipperary 

Galway - Galway County

Offaly

Clare

Waterford - Waterford County

Cork - Cork City

Waterford - Waterford County

Cork - Cork City

Galway - Galway County

Waterford - Waterford County

Donegal

Galway - Galway County

Galway - Galway County

Donegal

Tipperary

Laois

Laois

Laois

Galway - Galway County

Wicklow

Clare

6,997

10,516

8,994

23,500

6,720

3,500

17,804

27,942

19,000

12,000

2,475

10,000

5,250

3,750

11,000

9,000

2,252

15,000

11,250

8,775

3,841

7,000

8,009

10,500

3,000

9,328

3,000

Digital Atlas of Limerick

Ecclesiastical Heritage Audit for Kerry.

Audit of Historic Memorials, Plaques and Signs, 
County Kerry

Second phase of Conservation Works at 
Drogheda’s Old Abbey

Graveyard Mapping and Memorial Recording - 
Sligo Cemetery

Colour In Louth Heritage colouring  book

River Suir Heritage Audit 2017

People and Nature Galway County Biodiversity 
Project 2017

County Archive Project- Digitisation and 
cataloguing

Bird Usage Survey data for the Shannon-Fergus 
Estuary 2017

Ecological survey of Kilmacleague Wetland 
-Phase 2

Events and activities for Heritage Open Day 
and Heritage Week

Events and activities for Heritage and 
Biodiversity Week 2017

Traditional stone mason skills workshop

Audit of County Geological Sites in County 
Galway 2017 - Phase 1

St. John’s River Survey

Oral History Workshop 2017

Community Archaeologist Project 2017

Ecclesiastical Heritage Audit - 
Oranmore/Athenry Municipal Area

Study of Lime Kilns in County Donegal (Action 
5.5)

Raising awareness wildlife programme 2017 
with Birdwatch Ireland

2017 Laois Heritage Awareness activities

Architecture of Laois Conservation Project

Connecting Communities - Engaging with 
Heritage (Phase III)

Stories from the Landscape Project

Hosting of a two week community archaeological 
excavation at Glendalough

Stories from the Landscape’ Project

     COUNTY HERITAGE PLAN GRANTS   

C05673

C05706

C05724

C05725

C05727

C05731

C06382

C06382

C06384

C06386

C06389

C06391

C06392

C06393

C06394

C06397

C06403

C06405

C06411

C06413

C06414

C06415

C06417

C06419

C06421

C06424

C06427

Limerick City and County Council

Kerry County Council

Kerry County Council

Louth County Council

Sligo County Council

Louth County Council

Tipperary County Council

Galway County Council

Offaly County Council

Clare County Council

Waterford City and County Council

Cork City Council

Waterford City and County Council

Cork City Council

Galway County Council

Waterford City and County Council

Donegal County Council

Galway County Council

Galway County Council

Donegal County Council

Tipperary County Council

Laois County Council

Laois County Council

Laois County Council

Galway County Council

Wicklow County Council

Clare County Council
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Ref. Number Recipient Name Project Title Local Authority Areas €

Dublin - Dublin City

Tipperary 

Galway - Galway County

Donegal

Limerick - Limerick County

Laois

Tipperary 

Waterford - Waterford County

Sligo

Donegal

Waterford

Waterford - Waterford County

Cork - Cork County

Carlow

Leitrim, Sligo

Kildare

Meath

Cavan

Kerry

Clare

Kerry

Cork - Cork City

Donegal

6,000

3,000

4,000

6,000

1,199

280,602

1,000

2,000

2,000

9,000

5,000

977

4,000

871

3,000

2,000

8,000

1,500

2,500

5,000

8,000

1,000

500

8,891

Wide Streets Commissioners Awareness Project

Stories from the Landscape - Phase 1

Go Wild Summer Camps!

Cross-Border Built Heritage Summer School 

Limerick’s Heritage - Young persons 
photography and art competition

     COUNTY HERITAGE PLAN GRANTS Contd.   

C06430

C06441

C06442

C06454

C05661

CBH04896

CBH05866

CBH05872

CBH05915

CBH05939

CBH05950

CBH06039

CBH06183

CBH05123

CH06500

CH06528

CH06540

CH06546

CH06557

CH06579

CH06591

CH06604

CH06615

Dublin City Council with Fingal County 
Council/ Dún Laoghaire Rathdown 
CoCo/ S

Tipperary County Council

Galway County Council

Donegal County Council

Limerick City and County Council

Laois County Council

Newcastle Tidy Towns Association

Comhlucht Forbartha na nDéise

Friends of Sligo Gaol

The Secretary, Rector & Church 
Wardens Church of Ireland parish of 
Fahan (Lower)

Waterford County Museum

St. Carthage Cathedral, Lismore

Muintir Bháire Community Council

Drummin Bog Project St Mullin’s Ltd.

Inspirational Homes Leitrim

Irish Peatland Conservation Council

Sonairte the national ecology centre

Drumgoon Parish

Irish Peatland Conservation Council

Friends of the O’Brien Column

Kerry County Council

Ó Bhéal Limited

Killybegs History & Heritage Committee

To develop a programme of activities for 
Heritage Week 2015

Conservation plan for mollough abbey

Glanadh Reilig Bhaile Haicéid

Sligo Gaol - Window Conservation Project

Phase 1 of conservation Plan for Christ Church 
Buncrana

A community geophysical survey of Gallowshill

St. Declans Way Conservation Management 
Plan

Conservation plan for the O’Daly bardic school 
on the Sheep’s Head peninsula.

Drummin Bog Restoration Project

Green-Door 2017 - festival of rural architecture

Restoration of Vulnerable Raised Bog Habitat 
at Lodge Bog, Co. Kildare

The importance of the Irish Bee and upgrade 
to the Sonairte Bee Museum

Drumgoon Hill Graveyard Mapping Project

Development of a Conservation Management 
Plan for rare blanket bog habitat at Coad Bog, 
Co. Kerry

Cornelius O’Brien Column Conservation 
Project, 2017

Killaclohane Portal Tomb Landscape & Artefact 
Reconstruction Drawings

People and Nature Poetry Night, for Heritage 
Week at Ó Bhéal

St. Catherine’s Church Conservation Project

TOTAL

Ref. Number Recipient Name Project Title Local Authority Areas €

     COMMUNITY BASED HERITAGE GRANTS  
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Ref. Number Recipient Name Project Title Local Authority Areas €

Kerry

Donegal

Cork - Cork City

Kildare

Donegal

Meath

Offaly

All of Ireland

Roscommon 

Waterford 

Clare

Donegal

Wicklow

Limerick - Limerick County

Cork - Cork County, Galway 
- Galway County, Kerry, 
Longford

Waterford - Waterford County

Cork - Cork County

Donegal

Dublin - Dun Laoghaire/
Rathdown

Dublin - Dublin City

Cork - Cork County, Kerry,-
Mayo, Wicklow

Mayo

Galway - Galway County

Longford

Ireland - Northern, Donegal

All of Ireland

Laois

1,500

955

3,000

9,000

4,500

6,500

2,000

3,500

0

295

1,000

10,000

5,000

1,000

3,645

2,667

4,500

6,000

4,000

3,500

3,500

3,000

1,971

1,500

3,598

1,500

10,000

Old Kilcummin Graveyard Recording Project 
(Phase 1)

Women in Inishowen Heritage and Folklore

Cathedral of St. Mary & St. Anne- Restoration of 
Parish Marriage & Baptismal Registers

Enhancing breeding habitat for the endangered 
Marsh Fritillary Butterfly on Lullymore West Bog

Traditional Building skills in Letterkenny 
Cathedral Quarter

Peat-forming Cutover Bog Habitat Survey of 
Girley Bog NHA, Co. Meath

Edenderry Heritage Trail & Audio Tour

The Big Dig Heritage Manager Training Module

Emergency Conservation Works to Kilteevan 
Medieval Parish Church and adjoining Burial 
Vault 

Copper Coast Geopark Geoheritage Signage 
Renewal

Lisdoonvarna Heritage Week 2017

Conservation Works to Rathmullan Abbey

Assessment audit of the rare Fen habitat at East 
Coast Nature Reserve in 2017

Hunter-gatherer interactions with nature at 
Hermitage, County Limerick

Swift Conservation Ireland 2017

Knockboy Church and Ogham Stones - 
Conservation assessment & 3d survey

Arderin Monkstown, Early Victorian Plasterwork 
repair and training workshop

Conservation Repair Works to the Pilot’s Cot-
tage, Dundoan, Downings, 2017

Dún Laoghaire Day of Childhood 2017

Phoenix Park Arts & Creative Exploration 2017

A fully guided walk of all 5 pilgrim paths in the 
new passport scheme during Heritage Week 
2017

Inaugural Irish Rare Breeds Conference

Planning Through Time Project

Edgeworth Literary/Heritage Trail Information 
Brochure

Derry + Donegal Heritage Landscapes Alive 
2017 Awareness Project

Nesting River Birds in Built Structures Survey 
2017

Stradbally Hall Leadwork Repair project 2017

CH06636

CH06647

CH06662

CH06672

CH06692

CH06695

CH06714

CH06730

CH06739

CH06740

CH06746

CH06767

CH06769

CH06792

CH06807

CH06814

CH06848

CH06865

CH06871

CH06874

CH06875

CH06876

CH06888

CH06912

CH06926

CH06932

CH06952

Kilcummin Historical Group

Lands of Eogain

North Cathedral Parish

Irish Peatland Conservation Council

Letterkenny Cathedral Quarter 

Irish Peatland Conservation Council

Edenderry Historical Society

The School Of Irish Archaeology

Kilteevan Graveyard Committee

Copper Coast Geopark

Lisdoonvarna Tidy Towns

Donegal County Council

BirdWatch Ireland

ACM Community Development Society 
Ltd

Lynda Huxley

Nora White

Therese Ryan

Eddie Kelly

National Museum of Childhood

Debbie Chapman

Pilgrim Paths Ireland

Old Irish Goat Society

Alison Mac Cormaic

Edgeworthstown District Development 
Association Clg

Mary Kerrigan

BirdWatch Ireland

Thomas Cosby

     COMMUNITY BASED HERITAGE GRANTS Contd.   
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Ref. Number Recipient Name Project Title Local Authority Areas €

Mayo

Tipperary 

Dublin 

Mayo

Clare, Galway - Galway 
County

Galway - Galway County

Galway - Galway County

Galway - Galway County

Donegal

Tipperary

Kerry

Wexford

Laois

Donegal

TOTAL

6,150

1,500

7,000

3,000

3,000

750

400

6,000

1,200

6,000

6,921

10,000

550

700

216,041

Habitat management to help rare vulnerable 
wildlife at Termoncarragh Meadows reserve in 
2017

Exhibition of The Commons Past and Present

The cleaning, consolidation and repair of St 
Patrick’s Deanery boundary walls

Habitat management for rare breeding birds at 
Annagh Marsh Reserve in 2017

Burrenbeo Conservation Volunteers Programme 
working towards the sustainable management 
of the Burren
 
Conference: The Place of the Big House and 
Estate in Irish History

Athenry/Monivea Art & Nature Project

Conservation of small towns: workshop and 
colloquium, Galway

Recording the final colonisation of wilderness in 
the western valleys of Glencolmcille Parish 2017

Repair of windows to a John Nash designed 
hunting lodge (Mountain Lodge)

The Revitalisation and Rejuvenation of Denny 
Street, Tralee

Conservation and access to The Augustinian 
Friary at the Medieval Complex at Clonmines, 
Co.Wexford.

Conservation report for Laois Land League 
Banners (1880s)

2017 Heritage Week events

CH06959

CH07003

CH07007

CH07022

CH07026

CH07039

CH07075

CH07077

CH07078

CH07089

CH07098

CH07162

CH07184

CH07225

BirdWatch Ireland

Old School

St Patricks Cathedral

BirdWatch Ireland

Burrenbeo Conservation Volunteers

South East Galway IRD Ltd

Athenry Arts and Heritage Centre

ICOMOS Ireland

Oideas Gael

Burncourt Community Council Ltd.

Tralee Chamber Alliance

Domini Codd

Jim Fleming

Malin Head Community Association

     COMMUNITY BASED HERITAGE GRANTS Contd.   

Ref. Number Recipient Name Project Title Local Authority Areas Amount Paid €

     THATCH CONSERVATION  GRANTS 

TC06543

TC06822

TC07182

Paul Darby

Robert Davey

Paul Cramp

Yew Cottage Thatching project

Conservation of thatch roof at Tagoat, Wexford 
2017

Regional style of thatch of historic cottage 

Kildare

Wexford

Wexford

7,000

7,000

3,000

17,000TOTAL
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     MUSEUM STANDARDS PROGRAMME GRANTS 

Ref. Number Recipient Name Project Title Local Authority Areas €

Dublin - Dublin City

Kerry 

Louth

Kilkenny

Dublin - Dublin City

Kerry

Wicklow

Mayo

Cork - Cork County

Laois

Cork - Cork City

Tipperary - Tipperary South

Cork - Cork City

Cork - Cork County

3,000

2,610

2,000

4,975

1,500

3,500

4,000

2,200

3,750

3,000

1,645

3,803

5,000

2,979

43,962

The Conservation, Digitisation and Safe-Stor-
age of the earliest GAA Annual Reports, 
1911 - 1928

Conserving Collections at Kerry County 
Museum

Shelving For Artworks in Drogheda Municipal 
Art Collection

Butler Gallery Permanent Collection: Conser-
vator Led Conditon Report 2017 (Part 3)

Conservation of RCPI’s Portrait Collection

Conservation & Protection of Kerry Writers’ 
Museum Collection

Conserving Russborough’s Paintings 
Collection

Conservation and display in Knock Museum of 
a 1954 Knock Shrine Banner

Conservation of 18th century landscape 
paintings at Fota House, Cork

Care of Collection Strategy

Care of Brian O’Doherty artworks

Conservation works Victorian Lady’s Full 
Costume

Conservation of Jack Lynch Archive

Conservation of Antique Sculptures 2017

MC06532

MC06548 

MC06711

MC06815

MC06827

MC06883

MC06939

MC07016

MC07118

MC07130

MC07150

MC07179

MC07189

MC07267

The GAA Library and Archive

Kerry County Museum 

Highlanes Gallery

Butler Gallery

RCPI Heritage Centre

Kerry Writers’ Museum

Russborough House and Parklands

Knock Museum

Irish Heritage Trust

Donaghmore Famine Workhouse & 
Agricultural Museum Co-operative 
Society Limited

Lewis Glucksman Gallery

Tipperary County Museum

Cork Public Museum

Crawford Art Gallery

TOTAL
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